OpenGeneMed: a portable, flexible and customizable informatics hub for the coordination of Next-Generation Sequencing studies in support of precision medicine trials.

(User Manual)

Alida Palmisano, Ming-Chung Li, Eric Polley, Yingdong Zhao*, Richard Simon* * (corresponding author)

> Division of Cancer Treatment and Diagnosis (DCTD) Biometric Research Program, National Cancer Institute, Rockville, MD, USA

Email inquiries to: alida.palmisano@nih.gov, zhaoy@ctep.nci.nih.gov

▲ This 'User manual' describes the usage of the default configuration and does not reflect changes that your system administrator may have implemented in your version of OpenGeneMed.
Before submitting any inquiry to the authors of this manuscript, please contact your system administrators to make sure your inquiry is not connected to changes they made from the default configuration. ▲

Version 1.0

December 2015

Contents

1	Doc	sument Introduction	3
	1.1	Abstract	3
2	Intro	oduction	4
3	Sys	tem design and architecture	5
	3.1	Working groups for a basic study	5
	3.2	Communication and operation flow of different groups in the basic trial	6
	3.3	Functional modules in OpenGeneMed	8
4	Deta	ailed How-To user manual	12
	4.1	Users setup (Administrator)	12
	4.2	Study setup (Study coordinator)	14
		4.2.1 Actionable rules	14
		4.2.2 Gene/Drugs	16
		4.2.3 Actionable Mutations	16
		4.2.4 Eligibility Questions	17
	4.3	Patient registration and editing (Clinic Team)	18
		4.3.1 Patient registration	18
		4.3.2 Biopsy samples	21
		4.3.3 Prior Systemic Therapies	22
		4.3.4 Treatment Eligibility	23
		4.3.5 Ongoing treatments	25
		4.3.6 Pending treatments	26
		4.3.7 Delinking	26
	4.4	Sample upload and variant calling (Lab Team)	28
		4.4.1 Sample upload	28
		4.4.2 Access and review variant calling information	29
		4.4.3 Visualize summarized study information	31
		4.4.4 Delinking	33
	4.5	Treatment assignment (Treatment Review Team)	34
	4.6	Pending tasks and User Profile (common across roles)	36
5	Imp	lementation of the OpenGeneMed system	38
	5.1	Accessing the client	38
Re	ferer	nces	39

1 Document Introduction

This document is a user manual about the OpenGeneMed system.

Some of the text and figures is presented in a recent publication:

Zhao, Yingdong, Eric C. Polley, Ming-Chung Li, Chih-Jian Lih, Alida Palmisano, David J. Sims, Lawrence V. Rubinstein et al. "GeneMed: An Informatics Hub for the Coordination of Next-Generation Sequencing Studies that Support Precision Oncology Clinical Trials." Cancer informatics 14, no. Suppl 2 (2015): 45.

This document contains a general presentation of the implemented system, together with step by step instruction about how to use the default configuration of OpenGeneMed. A different document (called 'Technical documentation') contains detailled explanation about how OpenGeneMed is implemented and how to customize the code for specific study needs.

▲ This 'User manual' describes the usage of the default configuration and does not reflect changes that your system administrator may have implemented in your version of OpenGeneMed. Before submitting any inquiry to the authors of this manuscript, please contact your system administrators to make sure your inquiry is not connected to changes they made from the default configuration.

1.1 Abstract

We developed an informatics system, called OpenGeneMed, to support clinical trial research.

The system is an open and customizable version of the GeneMed system (Zhao et al. (2015)), a web-based interface developed for the National Cancer Institute (NCI) Molecular Profiling based Assignment of Cancer Therapy (MPACT) clinical trial (NCT01827384) conducted in the National Institutes of Health (NIH) Clinical Center.

Similar to the GeneMed system, OpenGeneMed streamlines the work flow of the clinical trial and it can be used by clinicians, lab personnel, statisticians and other researches as a communication hub. The web system automates the annotation of the genomic variants identified by sequencing, classifies the actionable mutations according to customizable rules, and facilitates quality control by the molecular characterization lab in the review of variants.

OpenGeneMed collects baseline information about the patients from the clinic team to determine eligibility for the panel of drugs available. The system generates patient reports containing detected genomic alterations providing summarized information that can be used for treatment assignment by a supervising treatment review team.

OpenGeneMed is distributed as a standalone virtual machine, ready to be deployed and used from a web browser. The code of the informatics system is written in a modular way: this allows easy customizion of the existing features and addition new modules to address the needs of specific clinical trials and research teams. Several examples on how to customize the code are provided in the technical manual distributed with the virtual machine.

In summary, OpenGeneMed offers an initial set of features inspired by our experience with GeneMed, a system that has been proven to be an efficient and successful informatics hub for coordinating the reliable application of nextgeneration sequencing in the MPACT trial. OpenGeneMed facilitates the exchange of real-time information used by the medical and research staff for therapeutic decision-making. A key additional capability of OpenGeneMed is that it is open-source and offers easy customization and expansion.

2 Introduction

Next-generation sequencing (NGS) technologies have been shown to be powerful tools for the clinical diagnosis and treatment of patients with cancer and other diseases, due to the increase of sequencing speed, reduction of cost, and improvement in accuracy over the past decade (Rothberg et al. (2011)). Precision medicine treatments for cancer are gaining momentum due to increase interest in approaches guided by next-generation sequencing (Doroshow (2010); Gargis et al. (2012); Simon and Polley (2013); Simon and Roychowdhury (2013); Tran et al. (2013); Vogelstein et al. (2013)).

The National Cancer Institute (NCI) is now conducting a clinical trial (NCT01827384) titled MPACT (Molecular Profiling based Assignment of Cancer Therapy) to treat late stage cancer patients based on their targeted gene sequencing profile (Kummar et al. (2015)). Patients with progressive solid tumors who have exhausted standard treatments undergo biopsy and have their tumors characterized based on amplicon sequencing of over 380 unique actionable variants in 20 genes.

In MPACT several treatment regimens are used and the sequencing assay is designed to identify mutations likely to de-regulate some specific pathways: for details about the trial we refer to (Kummar et al. (2015)). Mutations are called actionable if they fulfill some pre-specified rules. The rules for actionability were derived from literature documentation, reporting in the Catalogue of Somatic Mutations in Cancer (COSMIC) database (Bamford et al. (2004)) and evidence of functional effects for loss-of-function genes. Patients whose tumors contain at least one actionable mutation are randomized to either the actionable study treatment prospectively identified to work on that mutation/pathway or a control arm consisting of one of the other treatments. The informatics support needed to coordinate the complex set of rules and operations of this clinical trial motivated the creation of the informatics system called GeneMed (Zhao et al. (2015)). Similar principles has been used to develop our open and customizable version of the system called OpenGeneMed.

A key feature of the informatics system is to serve as a communication hub linking the different teams involved in daily management of a clinical trial (sequencing lab, treatment review team, clinic team, statisticians, researchers, etc.). In addition to the bioinformatics pipeline for raw data processing and sequence alignment, the system must have the ability to quickly annotate the sequencing data, predict the functional impact of mutations, and match the detected mutation to the pre-identified genomic changes in tumors found in previous studies (i.e., the actionable mutations of interest). The informatics hub should have the ability to translate and present the mutation findings from a sequencing results into a concise and easy-to-read actionable report for the treatment review team in a timely manner. This information will then be used by the team to assign patients to different arms based on their detected mutations. Clinical trials follow a variety of strategy to assign patients to treatment arms, one of the most commonly used being randomization. While the GeneMed system includes the assignment of the patient to the proper treatment based on randomization tables, OpenGeneMed does not include a module to do this assignment because we wanted the system to be useful for all kind of trials, wheter randomized or not. However the architecture of the system has been designed to allow easy integration of additional modules (some examples presented in this document, with more details available in the technical documentation): in this way the addition of an automated (or semi-automated) treatment assignment module should be an easy task for the IT group to set up the informatics system.

OpenGeneMed contains a module to collect and store patient data, including response data for prior therapies: this data is essential to evaluate eligibility for treatments in the study, assisting the treatment review team and the clinic team in the development of a treatment plan. The system is also equipped to make both sequencing data and clinical response data available to statisticians who are able to evaluate whether there is any improvement in response rate or progression free survival (PFS) favoring assignment of therapy based on genetic sequencing and to determine which actionable mutation-treatment pairs lead to improved patient outcome. OpenGeneMed contains an administrative module that allows the system manager to register users with different roles (e.g., Clinical Team, Lab Team, Treatment Review Team, etc.). Each group will be granted different permissions on data monitoring, uploads and changes. This module, as all others in OpenGeneMed, is customizable and extendable so that each clinical trial setup and workflow can be easily mapped into the system.

36

3 System design and architecture

OpenGeneMed is designed to be customizable to address the needs of different studies. However a setup inspired by our experience with the GeneMed system is available in the initial instantiation of the system. In this section we describe all the features available "right out the box", showing that the system already provides very valuable support for the management of a clinical study. In the 'Technical Documentation' document we show how to customize existing modules and how to integrate new ones to better match more specific needs.

3.1 Working groups for a basic study

There are six groups of people who participate in a basic trial. The tasks of these groups are as follows:

- 1. Admin Group: have access to all the different parts of the system. They are responsible for registering new users, assigning them to different groups and updating their information as necessary;
- 2. Study Coordinator: responsible for editing the eligibility questions, the actionable mutation rules and the gene/drugs of interest for the study;
- 3. Lab Team: lab members who perform the next-generation sequencing assays and sequence validation. They are responsible for uploading the variant files and for reviewing actionable mutation of interest (aMOI) identified by the OpenGeneMed system. One or more members of this group should act as 'chief' with additional responsibilities (more details follow);
- 4. Clinic Team: treating physicians and nurses who recruit and register patients, gather patient clinical information, treat patients, and delink them after the patient's disease has progressed or when the patient is taken off the study. One or more members of this group should act as 'chief' and with additional responsibilities (more details follow);
- 5. Treatment Review Team: access the patient clinical information, variant calls and decide on which treatment each patient should receive. This group allow a clear separation (blinding/masking) between the people that have access to the genetic information of the patient and the ones that deliver the actual treatment;
- 6. Biostatistics Group: researchers who are involved in the design of the study, monitor accrual rates, and analyze the data as required by the study protocol.

Each group can only access data related to the assigned tasks of the group. For example, staff in lab group can access sequence data but can only view partial patient clinical information and cannot not edit it; members in clinic group, instead, can access patient clinic information but not sequence data before the patient is delinked. Figure 1 summarize the main tasks of each team.



Figure 1: Groups available in the basic study setup of OpenGeneMed. The main tasks of each group are listed. In two groups (Lab and Clinic teams) two subgroups are present: regular members and chief. Note that each role can be assigned to more than one person but each person can only have one role.

3.2 Communication and operation flow of different groups in the basic trial

Managing a clinical study is a complex operation that requires team work, so it is necessary for the different groups to work collaboratively in an enterprise environment to accomplish the tasks required by the study. The basic work flow and communications among different user groups are shown in Figure 2 where all major tasks for each working group are sequentially ordered from top to bottom.



Figure 2: Workflow for the groups available in the basic study setup of OpenGeneMed. The order of tasks is shown vertically from top to bottom. The tasks formatted as orange rectangles are the ones involving user interactions with OpenGeneMed.

Once the Admin Team sets up accounts for the different team members, each of them will be able to access the part of OpenGeneMed devoted to their specific task. Then, when a new patient enters the study, a member of the clinic group accesses OpenGeneMedand registers the patient using a clinical trial assigned patient ID (protocol ID). Some basic demographic information for the patient can be entered into the system. OpenGeneMed performs some standard validation for the input information (e.g., check the uniqueness of the patient ID, make sure that dates are in reasonable format, etc.): more details on the specific validation can be found in the Technical Documentation of OpenGeneMed.

After the patient has been registered, the sample can be collected and delivered to the sequencing lab. The lab receives the sample and performs the sequencing assay. The raw data is then processed in the lab using a bioinformatics pipeline for sequence alignment and variant calling. A file containing the variants in VCF (Variant Call Format) version 4.2 format (https://github.com/samtools/hts-specs) is generated after sequence alignment and quality control. At this point, the lab member goes into the OpenGeneMed system and uploads the VCF file.

The OpenGeneMed system stores the VCF file, automatically performs annotation of each variant and produces a report of the variant called using the customized rules, previously recorded in the system by the Study Coordinator. A variant is considered actionable if the detected genomic alteration is in the pre-defined aMOI list or if the alteration meets one of the pre-defined actionability rules. Rules can be modified, added or deleted to meet the need of each study, more on this in Section 4.2 on page 14. Information about the VCF submission is recorded (date and submitter identity) and an email is sent to the sequencing lab indicating a new variant file has been processed and is ready for review.

After receiving the email notice, the lab reviewer logs into OpenGeneMed and begins the manual reviewing process following standard operating procedures. The reviewer checks and assigns a review status of either approved or rejected to each variant identified as "aMOI" by OpenGeneMed. Standard procedures suggest that the reviewer rejects aMOI calls if the variant allele frequency is less than 5% for SNVs and less than 15% for short insertions or deletions (indels), or if the variant has been identified as being out of the reportable range (OORR) of the assay. Different approaches can be used in each study, according to the study protocol. If the read depth of the variant is less that 450X, or the variant is within or immediately adjacent to a homo-polymeric region, or the variant creates an insertional tandem repeat, the variant would require further verification in order to be approved.

Once the lab review is completed, the review statuses for all aMOIs for the patient are entered into OpenGeneMed.

The Treatment Review Team members log into OpenGeneMed and look up the patient's aMOI report, his/her clinical data for treatment specific ineligibilities and prior therapies. The rules governing genomic profiling, definitions of actionable mutations and treatment arms are all pre-defined in the study protocol. The rules also cover how treatments are selected in cases with multiple actionable variants.

After the mutation summary report has been completed, the Treatment Review Team selects the appropriate treatment and records the decision in OpenGeneMed, where the Clinic Team can read the information and deliver the selected treatment to the patient. During the trial, the clinic team will update the treatment report on the clinical information page to document the treatment assignment and the response data.

The clinic team is initially blinded to the sequencing assay report. To share the sequencing results upfront would break the masking needed for randomized studies and endanger the validity of a randomized comparison, since patients might preferentially drop out or be taken off the control arm prior to evaluation of the primary endpoints of disease progression and tumor response. At disease progression, the sequencing results will be shared with the patient and the treating physician. OpenGeneMed is designed to manage both randomized and non-randomized studies and it doesn't implement any randomization assignment by default.

OpenGeneMed implements the delinking procedure that is essential to de-identify the collected information. In the MPACT trial, research-grade whole-exome sequencing are performed for all patients once they are off study. Since the whole-exome sequencing is not done in a CLIA lab, the sample identification must be delinked from the patient's clinical ID. We implemented the delinking process in OpenGeneMed following the same steps as in GeneMed.

The delinking process takes three simple steps: a member of the clinic team initiates the delinking request via the OpenGeneMed system, the Clinic Team chief receives the notice from OpenGeneMed and issues approval after determining that the patient is ready to be delinked (i.e., all clinical information have been correctly added to the system); a second notice is sent to the Lab chief who will be the one to complete the delinking process. All research specimens in the lab need to be relabeled with the new ID (generated automatically by the system when the delinking request is issued) as the research lab does not keep any record that can be linked to the original patient ID. When the lab has completed the delinking of the actual speciments, the lab chief logs back into OpenGeneMed to confirm the delinking. At that point, all records of the clinical ID will be automatically scrubbed from OpenGeneMed and replaced with the new ID in all database tables: at this point there will be no way of going back and connecting the delinked ID with the original patient ID. Delinking anonymizes the entry and allows following up studies with the specimens and data.

During the trial, the biostatisticians can log into OpenGeneMed to get the updated patient response data and sequencing data of all those patients who has been delinked because of a disease progression or because they are off-study. The biostatisticians can also access the system to view aggregate data of active patients to monitor accrual rate and make suggestions to the study coordinator if changes to the protocol or to the recruitment methods are needed.

3.3 Functional modules in OpenGeneMed

The main goal of our system is to build a reliable, effective and easy to use bioinformatics platform that provides a seamless bridge between the different teams involved in running a clinical study and a system that can be used for every day communication in real time.

Inspired by the same design principles used to implement the GeneMed system Zhao et al. (2015) and its use in the MPACT clinical trial, we divided the system into several functional modules, each having its own special features and functionality (Figure 3 on the next page). Each working group has specific permissions and it is able to access only modules related to its defined tasks. At the same time, the design provides mechanisms for seamless communication among different working groups.

The functional modules in the OpenGeneMed system are defined as follows.:

- 1. **Login module**: accessible to everyone. Access to OpenGeneMed is controlled by this module. Only registered users can access the system using the recorded username and password. The password can be recovered/reset by following the provided link. Passwords are encrypted in the database and nobody (not even the Admin Group) can read the password. If problems are found during the login, the reset module will send a new temporary password to the email address provided in the request;
- 2. **Customize study information**: accessible only to the Study Coordinator, this module is used to customize the list of genes and drugs used in the study, define the actionable mutation of interest and customize the eligibility information that need to be collected for each patient;
- 3. **User management module**: accessible only to the Admin Group. When a new user of the system (lab member, statistician, researcher, nurse, etc.) joins the team, one member of the Admin Group will register the user in OpenGeneMed. The registration requires to enter a valid email address as username and a temporary password. The Admin person will assign the new user to the proper group and this will determine what s/he is allowed to see/do within the system. Changes of personal information (name, surname, password) can be done by each user for themselves, but changes to the assigned group can only be done by an Admin. The 'User management module' allows the Admin Group to delete users once they leave the team;
- 4. **Patient registration and Clinical information module**: accessible to the Clinic Group for information edit/add/delete and read only to the Treatment Review Team and Biostatistics Group. The layout of the Patient Clinical Information page is divided into different tabs as described in more details in Section 4.3 on page 18.
 - <u>Patients</u>: it shows patient demographics (e.g., gender, histologic diagnosis, age at diagnosis). This is the tab used to register a new patient (using the 'Register patient' link). When a new patient enters the study, a clinic team member registers the patient in OpenGeneMed with the clinical protocol patient ID. This identifier must be unique and the system will perform validations to make sure that it doesn't contain prohibited characters and that follows a prespecified pattern (determined by the protocol). While registering a new patient, in addition gender, histologic diagnosis and age at diagnosis a 'Comment' section is available and it could be used to add information relevant to the treatment assignment such



Figure 3: Main modules defined in the default configuration of OpenGeneMed. Solid bold lines connects each team with their main activity, i.e. the module for which they have the main input/edit responsibility. Dashed bold lines shows modules that the team can access in read-only mode: the information in these modules may be essential to perform their main activity, but the editing responsibility belongs to another group. Fine dotted lines indicate modules that are accessible to the team in editing mode but the access is granted only for emergency and unforseen situations: in the everyday course of the study, those task should be carried out by other groups.

as known allergies, excluded medical conditions, etc. A 'Treatment Eligibility Data' tab may be used to add more structured information about treatment eligibility. The Patients tab offers an overall view of the currently registered patients. Each of them can be edited, delinked or variants information can be accessed using the button in the 'Action' column.

- Biopsy samples: this tab offers an overall view of the currently registered biopsy samples for all patients. Each of them can be edited or using the appropriate button in the 'Action' column. This is the tab used to add new samples (using the 'Add sample' link). While registering a new sample, basic information will be asked (patient ID, phase, biopsy site and type, ...).
- Prior systemic therapies: in this module, prior therapies information can be recorded (information about the current study should be added in the 'Treatment report' section). A registered Patient ID need to be provided to view the list of existing prior therapies and to add new ones. Once an exiting Patient ID is queried, information about Regimen, Date of Rx, Best response, Duration and Comments for each prior therapies can be added in the database. Exiting records can be edited or deleted using the

appropriate button in the 'Action' column.

- Treatment Eligibility Data: in this module, structured information about treatment eligibility questions are recorded. A registered Patient ID need to be provided to view the current state of the records. Once an exiting Patient ID is queried a table containing all the specific treatment eligibility questions, answers and notes will be shown. The questions can be edited/added/deleted in a separate module (the 'Customize' module, above). The Clinic Team will only be able to answer those specific questions for each patient, with the chance to add a note after each answer. Since questions could be changed/added/deleted during the course of the study (even if that is not advisable), the change will be prompted to the user that access a record that contains previously answered questions: if the text of the question has been edited, it will appear in orange with an 'Acknowledge change' button below the answer: the user could revise the question and the answer and decide if changes to other answers/notes need to be done before the record is deleted for the patient. If a question is added, it will just appear in the table with an empty record as answer. All these different scenarios are shown in Figure 22 on page 24.
- Treatment report: in this module, information about the current study regimen and response are recorded. A registered Patient ID need to be provided to view the list of existing treatment reports and to add new ones. Once an exiting Patient ID is queried, information about Regimen, Date of Rx, Best response, etc. for each treatment report entry can be added in the database. Exiting records can be edited or deleted using the appropriate button in the 'Action' column.
- 5. **Sequencing data upload module**: used by the sequencing lab to upload the variant file in VCF format (VCF file produced by TorrentSuite version 4.0.2). When uploading the variant file, the system uses the combination of the patient ID and the sample ID (the VCF file name) as the unique identifier. Instructions on how to customize/extend this module to fit different studies' need are presented in the 'Techinical documentation' manual and the general workflow is shown in Figure 4.



Figure 4: Sequencing data upload, Annotation steps. Upon upload of the vcf file, OpenGeneMed performs a series of steps to provide the final annotated group of variant calls.

The currently implemented strategy is the same used in the GeneMed system (Zhao et al. (2015)) and here quoted as reference.

'The first step is to parse the variant with multiple changes in ALT (alternate non-reference alleles) field and split the field into lines with a single record in the ALT field. For i-th variant among the total of N mutations detected at a given position, we define the Read Depth (RD) and the variant allele frequency (VAF) to be calculated as follows:

$$RD_{i} = FRO_{i} + \sum_{j=1}^{N} FAO_{j}$$
$$VAF_{i} = \frac{FAO_{i}}{FRO_{j} + \sum_{i=1}^{N} FAO_{j}}$$

The next step is to annotate the predicted effect of all variants in the VCF file. This step uses the snpEff variant annotation and effect prediction tool (Cingolani et al. (2012)). The output will annotate all variants as either synonymous or non-synonymous and the predicted amino acid change. In addition, homopolymer regions within the amplicons have been annotated and a variant is marked with the length of the homopolymer region if the reported position is within 1bp of any homopolymer region.'

Finally the variants are compared to a table of actionable mutations of interest (aMOI), customizable to the need of the study as shown in Section 4.2 on page 14.

- 6. Lab review module: used by the sequencing lab to review each aMOI. The lab reviewer can assign four different review statuses to each aMOI: "Review Approved", "Reviewed with Question", "Reviewed Rejected", "Not reviewed yet". A screen shot of the review edit form is shown in Figure 31 on page 31. An email notification can be sent to the treatment review team to alert them that the report is ready for their review.
- 7. **Patient sequencing report module**: The aMOIs detected by sequencing will be reported in a format shown in Figure 30 on page 30. The patient ID and sample ID are shown on the top left of the table. Each row represents a variant that has been identified as one of the actionable mutations for the study and that has been confirmed by lab review. For each variant, we report several fields as the gene symbol (with links to the COSMIC website), the gene type (which indicates whether this gene has been classified as a Gain or Loss of function), etc. The visibility of the columns can be customized by using the 'Show/hide columns' button, and filtering, sorting and searching is available for easy navigation of the table. In the default setup, each gene is predefined in one of the three pathways studied in the MPACT trial. The drug field lists the drug(s) assigned for the specific pathway in this trial. This information can be customized by the Study Coordinator (see below for details). Impact field is the functional impact of the variant predicted by snpEff. If the variant is in a homopolymer region, the length of the homopolymer region is displayed under 'HP' field. Finally, 'Chromosome', 'REF', 'ALT', 'Start Position', 'Allele Frequency', 'Read Depth', 'Codon Change' and 'Amino Acid Change' for the variant are listed. The canonical transcript IDs are also shown in the report table to provide the isoform information.
- 8. **Patient delinking module**: Delinking is the essential process needed to de-identify information of patients going off-study to allow the use of that information for further research investigations. Conceptually, it is a very simple process of creating a random identifier that will replace the Patient ID used throughout the different tables, so that the information in the database will not be linked in any way to the actual patient record in the clinic. This module uses three steps described in more details in Section 4.3.7 on page 26 to replace the patient protocol ID with a randomly generated ID once the patient is off-study. The research nurse, the physician, and the lab chief are the parties involved in the delinking process.

4 Detailed How-To user manual

The sections below contains detailed step-by-step instructions on how to use the default configuration of Open-GeneMed. Each kind of user (role) has access only to specific parts of OpenGeneMed. The sections are presented in the order in which the different groups are supposed to access the system in an ideal workflow.

4.1 Users setup (Administrator)

In the basic initial setup, eight accounts are added for demo purposes (usernames and passwords in Table 2 on page 38).

After login, the admin lands on the Dashboard tab (first on the left), a page with basic statistics about the system. The main action tab of an administrator is the 'Admin' tab, on the far right. The state of the system in the initial setup is shown in Figure 5.

DpenGeneMed (Demo	study)		1	Welcome Admin (Administrator) Logo
	5 (Study)			0
Dashboard Lab Team Clinic Team Treatment Rev	iew Team Statisticians Team Cus	tomize	Pe	nding tasks User profile Admin
Users				
List Add user 4				
				Show / hide columns
Show 25		3	Search	
	A Data	A First same		Actions
opengenemed admin@example.com	Administrator	Admin	Admin	Actions
opengenemed_clinicteam@example.com	Clinic Team	Clinic Team	Clinic Team	Edit User Delete User
opengenemed_clinicteamchief@example.com	Clinic Team Chief	Clinic Team Chief	Clinic Team Chief	Edit User Delete User
opengenemed_labteam@example.com	Lab Team	Lab Team	Lab Team	Edit User Delete User
opengenemed_labteamchief@example.com	Lab Team Chief	Lab Team Chief	Lab Team Chief	Edit User Delete User
opengenemed_statistician@example.com	Statistician	Statisticians	Statisticians	Edit User Delete User
opengenemed_studycoordinator@example.com	Study Coordinator	Study Coordinator	Study Coordinator	Edit User Delete User
opengenemed_treatmentteam@example.com	Treatment Selection Team	Treatment Selection Team	Treatment Selection Team	Edit User Delete User
Showing 1 to 8 of 8 entries	1			Previous 1 Next
)

Figure 5: Admin tab. The window is divided as follows: (1) greetings with the name, role and logout link, (2) the active tab is shown with a lighter blue background and a bigger font, (3) the main part of the window displays the list of the cCusturrent users in a tabular format, (4) additional actions in the main topic of 'Users' management are shown as additional subtabs ('Add user' in this case), (5) any additional section that the current user has access to is displayed as a different tab.

Editing and deleting an user is as easy as clicking the Edit or Delete button of the entries that needs to be updated. The table is sortable and filters can be activated just by typing the string that needs to be found. If the length of the table exceeds 25, the table is divided into pages that can be navigated using the numbers in the lower right corner of the table. A 'Show' drop down menu allows to change the amount of entries displayed at any given moment.

How to Edit and Delete users is shown in Figure 6 on the next page.

		Please confirm the deletion of the	e following user
Email Address (used as usernam	ne) open	genemed_clinicteam@example.com	
User Re	ole	Clinic Team	
First Nar	ne	Clinic Team	
Last Nar	ne	Clinic Team	
		Confirm deletion	
Users List Add user Edit user			
Usors List Add user Edit user Email Address (used as usern	ame)	opengenemed_clinicteamchief@ev	
Users List Add user Edit user Email Address (used as usern User	ame) [Role [opengenemed_clinicteamchief@e9 Clinic Team Chief	
Users List Add user Edit user Email Address (used as usern User First I	ame) [Role]	opengenemed_clinicteamchief@e> Clinic Team Chief Clinic Team Chief	
Users List Addruser Edit user Email Address (used as usern User First I Last I	ame) [Role] Name]	opengenemed_clinicteamchief@e> Clinic Team Chief Clinic Team Chief Clinic Team Chief	

Figure 6: Admin tab, Edit/Delete user. Deleting a user requires only a single confirfmation (A), while editing (B) allows the administrator to change the user role, first and last name or email addess (username). A new password cannot be manually entered by the administrator: s/he can only initiate a reset password, which will automatically create a new temporary random password and will send an email to the username address with these new login information.

Adding a new user is done through the 'Add user' tab. The interface to add new users to OpenGeneMed is shown in Figure 7. Once the form has been filled, an email will be sent to the user with the login information. Note that username and password will be sent without any encryption as this should be a temporary password used only to access the system for the first time. Each user should then change it through the 'User profile' tab (see Section 4.6 on page 36).

penGeneMed	(Demo study)			Welcome Adr	min (Administra	ator)
Dashboard Lab Team Clinic Team Tre	atment Selection Team	Statisticians Team	Customize	Pending tasks	User profile	Adm
List Add user						
Email Address (used as use	mame)					
Pa	ssword			•	-	
Retype par	ssword			Administrator		
Us	er Role		I.	Clinic Team Clinic Team Chief Lab Team		
Firs	t Name			Lab Team Chief Statistician		
Las	t Name			Treatment Selection Tea	am	
	[Submit				

Figure 7: Admin tab, Add user. The administrator should fill all the information to register a new user. Once the record has been entered, an email will be sent to the user with login information.

WARNING: the administrator role has full access to all different aspects of OpenGeneMed. This is granted with the idea of Administrators being able to quickly assess issues encountered by any user of the system. However editing of samples' data, patient information and treatments should be done exclusively by authorized people. The default configuration of OpenGeneMed can be easily adapted to allow/deny the access to any operation to different user roles: this requires changes in the source code, but it's very straightforward.

4.2 Study setup (Study coordinator)

Once the study protocol has been approved, key information about the study should be entered in OpenGeneMed by the Study Coordinator. The information that needs to be entered is divided into four groups:

- 1. Actionable rules: a collection of statements declaring which variants should be marked as 'actionable' for the specific study;
- 2. Gene/Drugs: a table collecting information about the key genes in the study, their pathway, role and the drug that a mutation of this gene may be associated to;
- 3. Actionable Mutations: a table collecting information about the specific mutations that are considered 'actionable' for the study;
- 4. Eligibility Questions: collection of yes/no questions assessing eligibility criteria for the study;

The customization of each group is presented in details below.

13P WARNING: Actionable Rules, Gene/Drugs, Actionable Mutations and Eligibility questions should be properly completed at the beginning of the study, before any patient is recruited. However it is possible that the information in these table need to be changed, as the study progresses, to account for amendment of the study protocol, new information, etc. The impact of editing any entry in these three tables is quite pervasive and it must be done with great care. OpenGeneMed keeps tracks the last modification of these tables, comparing it with the time of any existing variant call report and patient information data. If, for example, a sample has been uploaded at time t1 and the actionable rules or gene/drugs table is changed at a later time t2, the validity of the variant calling may have been compromised (since the change may or may not affect what is determined to be an 'actionable mutation of interest'). OpenGeneMed will prompt the Lab Member reviewing the variant call that a mismatch may be possible and it's up to the Lab Team Chief to decide what action to take: either ignore the warning and proceed with reviewing the current variant report, or rerun the variant call with the updated information. This decision has to be made after the Lab Team Chief get in contact with the Study Coordinator to understand the nature of the change. Note that any future upload of samples will automatically use the new updated information: the problem only arise for samples already uploaded but not reviewed yet. A similar situation happens when eligibility questions are updated after a patient has been registered and his/her answer already recorded: OpenGeneMed will show the inconsistency to the Clinic Team member and his/her action to ignore the warning or to change the existing answer has to be decided in conjunction with the Study Coordinator who issues the changes.

Another step that requires the careful coordination between teams is the delinking of a patient (anonymization of patient ID that allows following up studies with the specimens and data). OpenGeneMed presents warnings to the appropriate recipients (Clinic Team Chief and Lab Team Chief, examples in Figure 26 on page 27) to make sure all the information is complete and ready to be locked and anonymized. Even if the Study Coordinator is not involved directly in this step, s/he should be aware of this process and s/he should educate all team members to comply to the protocol requirements for delinking.

4.2.1 Actionable rules

In the initial setup of the study, only one custom actionable rule is listed. To add a new rule, the Study Coordinator should access the 'Add entry' tab under the 'Actionable Rules' task. The information entered for each rule is displayed in Figure 8 on the next page.

Rules can be simple and contain one single clause, or could represent more complex logic.

All the clauses within a rule are combined with an 'AND' logic. Exclusion rules are internally 'flipped' and listed as inclusion of their 'flipped' counterpart. The presence of multiple clauses on the same field may lead to incoherent definitions (i.e., conflicting clauses may lead to a definition of an empty set or redundant clauses may be present). OpenGeneMed implements some basic validation to alert the user for possibly incoherent rules. One example of

36

42

Dashboard Customize					Pending	asks User profil
Actionable Rules Gene	/ Drugs Eligib	ity questions				
List Add entry						
Define new r	le					
Name			Allele Frequency Exon Number Gene Impact IMAF MAFAA MAFAA MAFAA MAtation type Read Depth Start position		H - > > = <=	3
Inclusion Rules	Field	- /	Operator	Vali	ie	Remove
2 Add	Read Depth	· · ·	- >	- 45	0	8
			-	•		8
Exclusion Rules	Field	Operator		Value	Remove	

Figure 8: Customize, Actionable Rules, Add entry. Name: a short description of the rule, used for reference. Reason/-Comment: a short text describing the existence of the rule, used for future reference. Inclusion Rules: a list of clauses that determines which conditions have to be met by a variant to be marked as actionable (aMOI='yes'). Rules can refer to values of Allele Frequency, Read Depth, specific Gene names, etc. Each clause is added by using the Add button, then selecting the desired combination of Field, Operator and Value. To delete a clause just click the 'X' button under the Remove column. Exclusion rules can be added in a similar way. Refer to the main text for explanations about validation and interpretation of multiple clauses.

this situation is shown in Figure 9. When the Study Coordinator clicks 'Submit', the validation is executed and a warning is displayed: the user must then decide if to fix the error or to save the rule anyway.



Figure 9: Customize, Actionable Rules, Add entry, Validation. (1) upon submission of the rule a popup (2) is displayed to alert the user about a possible incoherent definition. The current state of the rule declare to include all variants with Start position smaller than 7577080 and, second rule, all variants with Start position smaller than 7577090. This is a combination of rules that contain an extra rule, since being smaller than 7577090 includes all positions smaller than 7577080. Inconsistencies like this one are marked "minor" and colored in yellow. Inconsistency of conflicting rules are marked as 'major' and displayed in red. It's up to the user to decide whether to save the rule anyway or go back and fix the issue.

The collection of rules is combined with an 'OR' logic, meaning that during the variant calling any variant meeting at least one of the different rules will be marked as actionable (aMOI='yes'). This is the reason why any incoherent rule may be, per se, not that critical to the overall variant calling result. However since those incoherencies may be the result of mistype or other human errors, OpenGeneMed marks them as possible issues.

	Customize				Pending tasks User pro
Action	able Roles Gene / Drugs Elig	billy questions			
List	Add entry				
					Show / hide column
Show	25 • entries			Search:	
			A 10.000.0		Action
ID A	Name	Created	 Boanea 		
1D *	Name TP53, position and impact	2015-06-09 10:05:40	2015-06-09 10:38:31	Ť	Edit SQL query Delete
1D*	TP53, position and impact Impact, Exon number and MAF	2015-06-09 10:05:40 2015-06-09 10:13:09	2015-06-09 10:38:31 2015-06-09 10:39:00		Edit SQL query Delete Edit SQL query Delete
1D* 1 2 3	Name TP53, position and impact Impact, Exon number and MAF Nutation type and impact	2015-05-09 10:05-40 2015-05-09 10:13:09 2015-06-09 10:21:01	2015-06-09 10:38:31 2015-06-09 10:39:00 2015-06-09 10:38:44	, in the second	Edt SQL query Doleto Edt SQL query Doleto Edt SQL query Doleto

Figure 10: Customize, Actionable Rules, List. Several rules are displayed and ready to be used to call the variants of uploaded vcf files.

4.2.2 Gene/Drugs

In the initial setup of the study, several gene/drugs/pathway are listed and they reflect the state of the MPACT trial for which the GeneMed system (Zhao et al. (2015)) was initially developed. Changing the current list is very easy: to add a new entry, the Study Coordinator should access the 'Add entry' tab under the 'Gene/Drugs' task. The information entered for each entry is displayed in Figure 11.



Figure 11: Customize, Gene/Drugs. A table list all the defined genes, with the associated information. Each row can be individually edited/deleted. New entries can be added and the information for each entry is displayed in the lower part of the figure. All fields are mandatory except the pathway web link. However if this link is provided, all the genes that have the same 'Pathway' will have this information filled out automatically. It is important to carefully fill the 'Drug' texfield with a comma separated list of drugs connected to mutation in the gene of interest. The drugs listed in this table are the ones that will be available as 'Treatments' for the 'Treatment Review Team', so make sure that all the information is typed accurately.

4.2.3 Actionable Mutations

In the initial setup of the study, 1220 mutations are listed and they reflect the state of the MPACT trial for which the GeneMed system (Zhao et al. (2015)) was initially developed. Changing the current list is very easy: adding single entries require the Study Coordinator to access the 'Add entry' tab under the 'Actionable Mutations' task. The information entered for each entry is displayed in Figure 12 on the following page. Editing and deleting single entries is as simple as clicking the appropriate action button for the desired entry. Changes to the entire table can be done in bulk using the 'Upload file' tab: the Study Coordinator can upload a CSV file and entirely overwrite the content of the table or just append the new entries to the current table. The CSV header should be gene, chr, start, cosmicid, ref, alt, actionable, reason, cnt and each following lines should contain that information for each mutation. Note that if notes explanation are added (in the 'reason' field for example) commas should NOT be used: use semicolon or other separators instead.



Figure 12: Customize, Actionable Mutation. (A) The table lists all the defined mutations. Each row can be individually edited/deleted. New entries can be added and the information for each entry is displayed in (B). Reason, CosmicID, Alt and Count fields are not mandatory. Reason and CosmicID however are used in the annotation process and reports so it's recommended to fill out this information. (C) Bulk changes to the table can be made uploading a CSV file. Format information is described in the text

4.2.4 Eligibility Questions

In the initial setup of the study, no eligibility questions are listed. To add a new question, the Study Coordinator should access the 'Add entry' tab under the 'Eligibility Questions' task. The information entered for each question is displayed in Figure 13.

	study)	/elcome Study Coordinator	(Study Coordinator)
sshboard Customize Actionable Rules Gene / Drugs Eligibility questions		Pe	nding tasks User prof
1 2			Show / hide columns
	Question	Note 🔶	Actions
Q1: Has patient received any prior therapy with any of the of	her investigational agents on this protocol?		Edit Delete
Q2: Does patient have ovarian or breast cancer and BRCA	mutation?		Edit Delete
Q3: Does patient have poorly controlled diabetes (defined a 8%)? Patients with fasting blood glucose 160 mg/dL may b	is fasting blood glucose of 160 mg/dL (CTCAE Grade = 2) and HgA1c e eligible if the HgA1c 8%, per PI discretion.	If yes, patient will not be eligible to receive Everolimus.	Edit Delete
Q4: Does patient have known immediate or delayed hypers Trametinib DMSO, its excipients, or DMSO?	ensitivity reaction or idiosyncrasy to drugs chemically related to		Edit Delete
Q5: Does patient have a history of seizures?		If yes, patient is not eligible to receive ABT-888.	3 Edit Delete
List Add entry	Editentry		
Question	QS: Does patient have a history of seizures?		
Note	If yes, patient is not eligible to receive AB1-888.		

Figure 13: Customize, Eligiblity Questions. List of few eligibility questions. New rows can be added clicking the 'Add entry' tab. Existing entries can be edited and deleted, using the appropriate button. Eligiblity questions can be stored together with additional notes or comments. These will be displayed to the Clinic Team member when filling the patient information. Questions should have a Yes/No/NA answer. Clinicians are allowed to add notes to the answer, but the basic content of the question should be based on a Yes/No answer.

4.3 Patient registration and editing (Clinic Team)

ß

WARNING: the instructions in this sections are presented using the 'Clinic Team Chief' role. People assigned to this role have additional responsibilities and capabilities compared to the 'Clinic Team' member. Operations allowed only to the 'chief' role have been clearly marked as such.

The main responsibilities of the Clinic Team are:

- 1. register new patients
- 2. record information about biopsy samples collected within the study
- 3. record prior therapies for each patient
- 4. answer treatment eligibility questions for each patient
- 5. interact with the Treatment Review Team to receive information about a treatment assignment
- 6. deliver treatments to the patients and record information about it
- 7. initiate delinking request (to de-identify information of patients going off-study and allow the use of that information for further research investigations)
- 8. (chief role) finalize the delinking request

Each task, usually corresponding to a specific tab in the web interface, is described in details in the sections that follow.

4.3.1 Patient registration

Registering a patient into the study requires some basic information to be entered. The most important element is the Patient ID (referred also as PID), which is the identifier used across the entire system to refer to information of that specific patient.

In its default setup, OpenGeneMed imposes only minimal constrains to the format of this ID (i.e., should only contain letters, numbers and _). However since this is a critical information that cannot be modified later on, it is reasonable to add more constrains in the code to warn clinicians of possible typing errors or to make sure that it conforms to a specific pattern (for example, the first four digits refer to a protocol number, the next three digits refer to a clinical center and the last four digits are the incremental patient number). Customizing the code to these needs is easy and examples of this are provided in the 'Technical Documentation' document.

Several fields across the different tasks have validation rules to warn clinicians about missing mandatory data or malformed information. The system has been modelled to the design of the GeneMed system and its everyday use. Adding/removing restriction on any of the field is straightforward and examples are provided in the 'Techinical documentation' manual .

Once the patient information has been submitted, the record will be added in the list of patient, as displayed in Figure 15 on the following page. Each patient record can be then accessed, edited and delinked using the appropriate button on the right of each entry.

Note that the table in Figure 15 on the next page (as any other table in OpenGeneMed) has built-in features that allow to hide/show columns, view the records over different pages, sort the entries and search for specific content.

OpenGeneMed (Dem	o study)						1	Welcome Clinic Team Chief (Clinic Team Chief) Logo
Dashboard Clinic Team Patients Biopsy samples Prior systemic thera List Register patient	pies Treatment Eligibility Data On	going T	reatm	ents	P	endin	g Tre	Pending tasks User profile
1 Patient ID Gender	12349990001	2 This f	field o	anno	ot be	empl	ty. (3
Histologic Dx	Pancreatic cancer							-
Histologic Dx Subtype Date of Diagnosis	Adenocarcinoma 2015-04-14 4	0		Apr	il 20	15		0
Age at Diagnosis	64	Su	Мо	Tu	We	Th 2	Fr 3	Sa
Comments		5	6	7 14	8	9 16	10 17	11
		19	20	21	22	23	24	25
	Submit			20	20			



Patients Biopsy samp	Nes Prior system	nic therapies	Treatment Eligibili	ty Data Ongoi	ng Treatments Pendi	ng Treatments	L
							Show / hide column
Show 25	Samples	Gender	Diagnosis	Dx Date	Submit Date	Search:	Action
12349990001	0	м	Pancreatic cancer	2015-04-14	2015-05-12 16:31:05	6	Edit patient Delink
12349990002	0	F	Ovarian cancer	2015-03-29	2015-05-12 16:42:01		Edit patient Delink
12349990003	0	м	Colon Cancer	2015-05-05	2015-05-12 16:42:37		Edit patient Delink
12349990004	0	F	Ovarian cancer	2015-04-09	2015-05-12 16:43:28		Edit patient Delink
12349990005	0	м	NSCLC	2015-04-14	2015-05-12 16:44:12		Edt patient Delink
12349990006	0	F	Breast Cancer	2015-03-10	2015-05-12 16:44:54		Edt patient Delink
12349990007	0	F	Breast Cancer	2015-03-09	2015-05-12 16:45:32		Edt patient Delink
12349990008	0	м	NSCLC	2015-05-07	2015-05-12 16:46:24		Edit patient Delink
12349990009	0	м	Colon Cancer	2015-03-03	2015-05-12 16:47:03		Edit patient Delink
12349990010	0	F	Ovarian cancer	2015-03-18	2015-05-12 16:47:37		Edit patient Delink

Welcome Clinic Team Chief (Clinic Team Chief) Logout

OpenGeneMed (Demo study)

Figure 15: Clinic Team, Patients, List. View of the current list of registered patients. Each record can be then accessed, edited and delinked using the appropriate button on the right of each entry. The table has built-in features that allow to hide/show columns, view the records over different pages, sort the entries and search for specific content.

Patient ID	12349990002
Gender	Female •
Histologic Dx	Ovarian cancer
Histologic Dx Subtype	carcinosarcoma
Date of Diagnosis	2015-03-29
Age at Diagnosis	58
Comments	
	Submit
Molecular Characterized B Add Biopsy sample Patient I 12349990002	Iopsies Show / hide columns D Site Phase Biopsy Date Drug Action Covere
Molecular Characterized B Add Biopsy sample Patient I 12349990002 Prior Systemic Therapies Add Prior Systemic Therapi	Iopsies Ste Phase Biopsy Date Drug Action Action Action Compared to the second to th
Molecular Characterized B Add Biopsy sample Patient I 1234990002 Prior Systemic Therapies Add Prior Systemic Therapies Regin	Interior Site Phase Biopsy Date Drug Action Neck Initial 2015-05-08 Edit Denice Show / hide columns Show / hide columns Time Rx started (monthlycar)
Molecular Characterized B Add Biopsy sample Patient I 12349990002 Prior Systemic Therapies Add Prior Systemic Therapi Regin	iopsies Show / hide columns D A Site Phase Biopsy Date Drug Action Neck Initial 2015-05-08 Show / hide columns Time Rx started (month/year) 2014-07-14 PR 3 EBI Detects Detect
Molecular Characterized B Add Biopsy sample Patient I 1234990002 Prior Systemic Therapies Add Prior Systemic Therapy Regin FOLFOX, Bevacizumab Pemetrexed	iopsies Show / hde columns D Asite Phase Biopsy Date Drug Action Neck Initial 2015-05-08 Show / hde columns Time Rx started Best response Duration Action 2014-07-14 PR 3 Edit Delete 2014-12-03 Disease Progression 2 Edit Delete Edit Delete
Molecular Characterized B Add Biopsy sample Patient I 12349990002 Prior Systemic Therapies Add Prior Systemic Therapies Add Prior Systemic Therapies Regin FOLFOX, Beveolzumab Pemetrexed Treatments Add Treatment Report	iopsies Site Phase Biopsy Date Drug Action Neck Initial 2015-05-08 Ear Delete Show / hide columns Image: started (monthlyear) Best response Duration Action 2014-07-14 PR 3 Ear Delete 2014-12-03 Disease Progression 2 Edit Delete Show / hide columns
Molecular Characterized B Add Biopsy sample Patient I 1234990002 Prior Systemic Therapies Add Prior Systemic Therapi Regin FOLFOX, Bevacizumab Pemetrexed Treatments Add Treatment Report Regin	iopsies D * Site Phase Biopsy Date Drug Action Neck Initial 2015-05-06 Edit Deleter Show / hide columns Time Rx started Best response Duration Action 2014-07-14 PR 3 Edit Events Edit Events Show / hide columns Edit Events Show / hide columns Show / hide columns Date Rx started Best response No. of cycles Action
Molecular Characterized B Add Biopsy sample Patient I 12349990002 Prior Systemic Therapies Add Phor Systemic Therapy Regin FOLFOX, Bevacizumab Pemetrexed Treatments Add Treatment Report Regin	iopsies D Site Phase Biopsy Date Drug Action Neck Initial 2015-06-08 GBI Detect Image: Started monthlyear Best response Duration Action 2014-07-14 PR 3 East East Desease Progression 2 East East No data available in table Model available in table

Figure 16: Clinic Team, Patients, Patient record. A patient record, collecting information from different tables.

4.3.2 Biopsy samples

Biopsy samples are presented in a collective view, to allow an overall evaluation of the sample collection of the team (Figure 18). Adding each sample requires similar steps as the ones described to add patient clinical information. Details on which information is required is displayed in Figure 17.

OpenGeneMed (Dem	> study) Welcome Clinic Team Chief (Clinic Team Chief) Logo
Dashboard Clinic Team	Pending tasks User profile
Patients Biopsy samples Prior systemic there List Add sample	es Treatment Eligibility Data Ongoing Treatments Pending Treatments
Patient ID	12349990001
Phase	Initial Initial At Progression
Biopsy Site	Lung
Biopsy Type	Blood
Biopsy Date	2015-05-07
On Drug	ABT888 MIN1775 GSK1120212 Everolmus
Comments	
	Submit

Figure 17: Clinic Team, Patients, Biopsy samples, Add. Information needed to record a new biopsy sample. Some fields (like Patient ID and Phase) are mandatory and cannot be left empty. A message is displayed if mandatory information is missing or malformed. Drop downs or popup are implemented to help the clinician filling structured information: for example, the drugs listed in the 'On Drug' field are the ones added by the Study Coordinator as drugs of the study. Several fields can contain arbitrary text.

Note that it is possible add Biopsy samples for a specific patient directly from the patient record (clicking the 'Edit' button of Figure 15 on page 19 opens the complete record of the patient with all his/hers biopsy samples, prior therapies, eligibility questions and treatments. Each table can be edited either from there or using the dedicated generic tab ('Biopsy samples', 'Prior systemic therapies', etc.).

hboard Clinic Team					Pending tasks User profi
atients Biopsy samples Pri	or systemic therapies	Treatment Eligibility Data	Ongoing Treatments Pe	ending Treatments	
List Add sample					
					Show / hide columns
how 25 entries				Search:	
Patient ID	▲ Site	Phase	Biopsy Date	Drug	Action
	1	Initial	2015-05-07		Edit Delete
12349990001	Lung				
12349990001 12349990002	Neck	Initial	2015-05-08		Edit Delete
12349990001 12349990002 12349990003	Neck	Initial	2015-05-08 2015-04-09		Edit Delete Edit Delete

Figure 18: Clinic Team, Patients, Biopsy samples, List. View of the current list of recorded biopsy samples. Each record can be then accessed, edited and deleted using the appropriate button on the right of each entry. The table has built-in features that allow to hide/show columns, view the records over different pages, sort the entries and search for specific content.

4.3.3 Prior Systemic Therapies

Prior therapies are accessed as a per-patient base, so the first information needed to add/edit/delete these records is the Patient ID. After that has been selected, adding records for prior systemic therapies requires similar steps as described in previous sections. Details on which information is required is displayed in Figure 20.

Note that it is possible add prior therapies records for a specific patient directly from the patient record (clicking the 'Edit' button of Figure 15 on page 19 opens the complete record of the patient with all his/hers biopsy samples, prior therapies, eligibility questions and treatments. Each table can be edited either from there or using the dedicated generic tab ('Biopsy samples', 'Prior systemic therapies', etc.).

penGeneMed (De	emo st	udy)				Welcome Clinic Te	am Chief	(Clinic Team Ch	nief) L
lashboard Clinic Team					_		Per	iding tasks Use	er profil
Patients Biopsy samples Prior systemic th	erapies	Treatment Eligibility Dat	• 1 «	Ingoing Treatments	Pending	Treatments			
Patient ID: 12349990002									
Show 25 • entries						Search:		Show/hide co	lumns
Regimen		Time Rx started (month/year)	¢	Best response	¢	Duration (months)	¢	Action	4
FOLFOX, Bevacizumab		2014-07-14	F	R	3			Edit Delete	
-		2014 12 02		licesse Progression	-			Edit Delete	

Figure 19: Clinic Team, Patients, Prior Systemic Therapies, List. View of the current list of recorded Prior Systemic Therapies. Each record can be then accessed, edited and deleted using the appropriate button on the right of each entry. The table has built-in features that allow to hide/show columns, view the records over different pages, sort the entries and search for specific content.

	Denting tasks (Trace and
Patients Biopsy samples Prior systemic thera	Nes Treatment Eligibility Data Ongoing Treatments Pending Treatments
List Add entry	
Patient ID	12349990002
Regimen	Pemetrexed
Date of Rx	2014-12-03
Best Response	Disease Progression
Duration (months)	2 Disease Progression Stable Disease Non-evaluable
	(TOT-CHINADO
Comments	
	Submit

Figure 20: Clinic Team, Patients, Prior Systemic Therapies, Add. Information needed to record prior systemic therapies. Some fields (like Patient ID and Regimen) are mandatory and cannot be left empty. A message is displayed if mandatory information is missing or malformed. Drop downs or popup are implemented to help the clinician filling structured information: for example, the 'Best Response' field offers a choice between Complete Response (CR), Partial Response (PR), Not Accessed (NA), Disease Progression, Stable Disease, Non-evaluable. Several fields can contain arbitrary text.

4.3.4 Treatment Eligibility

Treatment Eligibility are accessed as a per-patient base, so the first information needed to add/edit/delete these records is the Patient ID. After that has been selected, a table containing the study eligibility questions is presented to the clinician (Figure 21). The text of each question and associate note is customized by the Study Coordinator at the beginning of the study (See Section 4.2.4). Note that it is possible answer treatment eligibility questions for a specific patient directly from the patient's record (clicking the 'Edit' button of Figure 15 on page 19 opens the complete record of the patient with all his/hers biopsy samples, prior therapies, eligibility questions and treatments. Each table can be edited either from there or using the dedicated generic tab ('Biopsy samples', 'Prior systemic therapies', etc.).

penGeneiwed	(Demo study)			
ashboard Clinic Team Patients Biopsy samples Prior system	nic therapies Treatment Eligibility Data Ongo	king Treatments Pending Treat	ments	Pending tasks User pro
Patient ID: 12349990003				
Edit answers				Show / hide column
	Question	*	Answer	Note
Q1: Has patient received any prior therapy with	h any of the other investigational agents on this protoc	? ?10		
Q2: Does patient have ovarian or breast cano	er and BRCA mutation?	?		
Q3: Does patient have poorly controlled diabe HgA1c 8%)? Patients with fasting blood gluco	tes (defined as fasting blood glucose of 160 mg/dL (se 160 mg/dL may be eligible if the HgA1c 8%, per Pl	CTCAE Grade = 2) and ?		If yes, patient will not be eligible to receive Everolimus
Q4: Does patient have known immediate or d to Trametinib DMSO, its excipients, or DMSO?	elayed hypersensitivity reaction or idiosyncrasy to dru	as chemically related ?		
04: Does patient have known immediate or d to Trametinib DMSO, its excipients, or DMSO' 05: Does patient have a history of seizures?	elayed hypersensitivity reaction or idiosyncrasy to dru ,	gs chemically related ?		If yes, patient is not eligible to receive ABT-888.
OL Does patient have known immediate or of to Trametinib DMSO, its excipients, or DMSOG OS: Does patient have a history of setzures? Patient ID: 123499990003	lelayed hypersensibility reaction or idiosyncrasy to drug	2 s chemically related 2		If yes, patient is not eligible to receive ABT-888.
O4 Dies aptiert has troom immediate of to Tramstein DUBO, its expirets, or DUBOT 05 Dies patient have a history of secures? Patient ID: 12349990003 Edit answers	elased hypersenalisky reaction or idosyncrasy to dru	2 2 2		If yes, patient is not eligible to receive ABT-888.
OL Does patient have known immediate or d to Transition UGM, the ungestig, or UGMOT OS: Does patient have a history of secures? Patient ID: 12349990003 Edit univers	Question	gs chemically related ? ?	Answer	If yes, patient is not eligible to receive ABT-888. Show / hide column Note
O4 Des patient hav known immediate or d to Transmith D450, the expending, or UB007 05: Does patient have a history of secures? Patient ID: 12349990003 Edit answers O1 Has patient received any part florage with	elsed hypersenality reaction or ideosyncrasy to dru Coreston any of the other investigational agents on this proto	s chemically related ? ?	Answer	Hyes, patient is not eligible to receive AET-688.
OL Does patient have known immediate or d to Transtito BUOS, to known immediate brown of OL Does patient have a history of secures? Patient ID: 12349990003 ECII answers 01 Has patient received any prior threapy will 02 Does patient have outsing or breast cance	Aligned hypersensibility reaction or ideosyncrasy to dru Ouerstion Question any of the direct investigational agents on this proto	a chemically related ? ? ? cor7 No NA	Answer	If yes, patient is not eligible to receive ABT-888.
OL Does patient have known immediate or d to Transmith DRUA, the orgenition, CRUBO DD. Does patient have a history of secures? Patient ID: 12349990003 Edit answers Of Has patient received any prior history will co Dees patient have owning or freatay will be control to the control owning of the control of the control owning of the control owning of the control owning control owning of the control owning of the control owning control owning owning owning owning owning owning owning control owning owning owning owning owning owning owning control owning owning owning owning owning owning owning owning control owning owning owning owning owning owning owning owning owning owning control owning own	Question Que	as chemically related 2 ? ? col7 No CCCAF Grades = 2) and Respression No	Answer	If yes, patient is not eligible to receive ABT-688. Show / Mde colum Note If yes, patient will not be eligible by receive Everolimin
OL Does patient have known immediate or d to Transmith DRAN, the orgenitist, or URDAN DD. Does patient have a history of secures? Patient ID: 12349990003 ECE answer: 01 Has patient received any prior therapy will 02 Does patient have outsins of breast cano 03. Does patient have outsins of breast cano 04. Does patient have outsins of breast cano 04. Does patient have outsins of breast cano 04. Does patient have brown immediate or d 16 Transeling DRAN, te oppeting, compatient data	Question any of the other investigational agents on this proto a transformation any of the other investigational agents on this proto the (other as fashing blood guoces or 100 mpd). The (other as fashing blood guoces or 100 mpd), the (other as fashing blood guoces or 100 mpd), the (other as fashing blood guoces or 100 mpd). The the other as fashing blood guoces or 100 mpd), the	gs dremically related g 2 2 col7 No CCOAPE Grades = 2) and discretion. No gs chemically related No	Answer	If yes, patient is not eligible to receive AIT-868.

Figure 21: Clinic Team, Patients, Treatment Eligibility Data, List. View of the initial (A) and completed (B) treatment eligibility for a patient. To edit the answer, the 'Edit answers' button need to be used. The table has built-in features that allow to hide/show columns and sort the entries. For explanation about the possible answers and messages in case of incoherent information, see text.

If no answer has been provided for a question, the entry will contain a question mark (?). If the question has been answered, the clinician will see one of the three possible answers (Yes, No, N/A for not answered/refused to answer). Note that there is a difference between N/A and ? as the former acknowledges the fact that the patient didn't provide an answer, while the latter simply marks the fact that the information has not been entered in the system.

As mentioned before, the list of eligibility questions presented to the Clinic Team is managed by the Study Coordinator, who should initialize these information at the beginning of the study, before any patient is recruited. However in real situation, study protocols changes over time, and the content of eligibility questions may need to be corrected, changed, new questions may need to be added, or not relevant questions may need to be deleted. These actions can easily be done by the Study Coordinator, but the impact on records already entered in the system may vary. OpenGeneMed provides visual clues to the Clinic Team Member in situations where changes in the question format are done after an answer has already been recorded. An example of all the possible scenarios is depicted in Figure 22 on the next page.

A Patient ID: 12349990002

Edit answers				Show / hide columns
Question	•	Answer	- 0	Note
Q1: Has patient received any prior therapy with any of the other investigational agents on this protocol?	?			
Q2: Does patient have ovarian or breast cancer and BRCA mutation?	?			
Q3: Does patient have poorly controlled diabetes (defined as fasting blood glucose of 160 mg/dL (CTCAE Grade = 2) and HgA1c 8%)? Patients with fasting blood glucose 160 mg/dL may be eligible if the HgA1c 8%, per PI discretion.	?			If yes, patient will not be eligible to receive Everolimus.
Q5: Does patient have a history of seizures? THIS TEXT HAS BEEN ADDED FOR DEMO PURPOSES	?			If yes, patient is not eligible to receive ABT-888.
Q6: QUESTION ADDED FOR DEMO PURPOSES	?			

B Patient ID: 12349990003

	Edit answers				Show / hide columns
	Question	•	Answer	Ŷ.	Note
	Q1: Has patient received any prior therapy with any of the other investigational agents on this protocol?	No			
	Q2: Does patient have ovarian or breast cancer and BRCA mutation?	N/A			
	Q3: Does patient have poorly controlled diabetes (defined as fasting blood glucose of 160 mg/dL (CTCAE Grade = 2) and HgA1c 8%)? Patients with fasting blood glucose 160 mg/dL may be eligible if the HgA1c 8%, per PI discretion.	No			If yes, patient will not be eligible to receive Everolimus.
i)	Q4: Does patient have known immediate or delayed hypersensitivity reaction or idiosyncrasy to drugs chemically related to Trametinib DMSO, its excipients, or DMSO?	No	Acknowledge change		
ii)	Q5: Does patient have a history of seizures? THIS TEXT HAS BEEN ADDED FOR DEMO PURPOSES	Ye	Acknowledge change		If yes, patient is not eligible to receive ABT-888.
iii)	Q6: QUESTION ADDED FOR DEMO PURPOSES	?			

Figure 22: Clinic Team, Patients, Treatment Eligibility, Effect of question editing. The Study Coordinator changed the eligibility questions after the study has started recruiting patients. (A) The eligibility answers where not recorded for this patient, so the change in the eligibility questions (text editing, deleted question, added question) is transparent to the clinician: the updated questions are displayed and the clinician can add the patient's answer as explained before. (B) The answers for this patient were recorded with the previous version of the questions, so it's now the responsibility of the clinician to decide if the answer to the changed questions need to be changed. In particular: i) question Q4 (marked in red) was deleted from the list. This change has been marked because there may be cases in which the information from the patient may be important, so the clinician can acknowledge the change (so deleting the question Q5 has been changed (some text has been added): since the system cannot understand if the change is only stylistic/typo or if it substantially changes the meaning of the question, the entry is marked as orange and is the clinician responsibility to decide if to leave the previous answer or to change it to a different one. iii) question Q6 was added in the list, so the previous group of answers do not contain an answer to this entry: it is shown as a missing record (?).

4.3.5 Ongoing treatments

Ongoing treatments refer to the treatments administered within the study. They are accessed as a per-patient base, so the first information needed to add/edit/delete these records is the Patient ID. After that has been selected, adding records for treatments requires similar steps as described in previous sections. Details on which information is required are displayed in Figure 24.

Note that it is possible add ongoing treatment records for a specific patient directly from the patient record (clicking the 'Edit' button of Figure 15 on page 19 opens the complete record of the patient with all his/hers biopsy samples, prior therapies, eligibility questions and treatments. Each table can be edited either from there or using the dedicated generic tab ('Biopsy samples', 'Prior systemic therapies', etc.).

penGene	Med (Demo s	tudy)		Welcome Clinic Team	Chief (Clinic	Team Chief) Lo
ashboard Clinic Team					Pending task	ks User profile
Patients Biopsy sample:	Prior systemic therapies	Treatment Eligibility	Data Ongoing Treatments	Pending Treatments		
List Add entry						
Patient ID: 123499	20002					
1 ullent 15. 120400						
					Sho	w / hide columns
Show 25	ries			Peamb		
	ind.			Search.		
Regimen	Date Rx start	ed 🌼 Best respons	e 🍦 No. of cycles 🍦	Comments	\$	Action 0
MK1775	2015-05-13	NA	0			Edit Delete
Showing 1 to 1 of 1 entrie	s				Previous	1 Next

Figure 23: Clinic Team, Patients, Ongoing treatments, List. View of the current list of recorded Ongoing treatments. Each record can be accessed, edited and deleted using the appropriate button on the right of each entry. The table has built-in features that allow to hide/show columns, view the records over different pages, sort the entries and search for specific content.

OpenGeneMed (Dem	o study)	vveicome Clinic Team Chief (Clinic Team Chief) Logout
Dashboard Clinic Team		Pending tasks User profile
Patients Biopsy samples Prior systemic therap	pies Treatment Eligibility Data	Ongoing Treatments Pending Treatments
List Add entry Edit entry		
Patient ID	12349990002	
Regimen	MK1775	ABT888 MK1775
Date of Rx started	2015-05-13	GSK1120212 Everolimus
Best Response	NA	CR
Number of cycles	0	PR NA
Date of Progression or Off-therapy		Stable Disease Non-evaluable
Reason for Off-therapy		
Comments		
	Submit	

Figure 24: Clinic Team, Patients, Ongoing treatments, Add. Information needed to record an ongoing treatment. Some fields (like Patient ID and Regimen) are mandatory and cannot be left empty. A message is displayed if mandatory information is missing or malformed. Drop downs or popup are implemented to help the clinician filling structured information: for example, the drugs listed in the 'Regimen' field are the ones added by the Study Coordinator as drugs of the study. Several fields can contain arbitrary text.

4.3.6 Pending treatments

After biopsy samples are collected and analyzed by the lab, the information of the sample is uploaded in Open-GeneMed (in the form of VCF files), properly annotated and the variant calls are reviewed by the lab. Once this step is completed, the Treatment Review Team assess all the information (mutation profile, clinical information, etc) and comes to a decision about the treatment that the patient should undergo within the study. When the Treatment Review Team uploads this decision in OpenGeneMed the Clinic Team will be able to see which treatment deliver to each patient and this information is displayed in the 'Pending treatment' tab (Figure 25). Members of the Clinic Team receive a notification each time new information is available and they should access this task to acknowledge it. Note that recording the actual treatment delivery to the patient needs to be done manually through the 'Ongoing treatment' task described in the previous section.



Figure 25: Clinic Team, Patients, Pending treatments. The list of all patient for which the Treatment Review Team reviewed the information and assigned the treatment is displayed. The Clinic Team member should make note of which treatment need to be delivered (with any important note) and click 'Acknowledge and remove from pending' to record the completion of the task.

4.3.7 Delinking

Delinking is the essential process needed to de-identify information of patients going off-study to allow the use of that information for further research investigations. Conceptually, it is a very simple process of creating a random identifier that will replace the Patient ID used throughout the different tables, so that the information in the database will not be linked in any way to the actual patient record in the clinic.

Even if the technical steps are very straightforward, since many groups are involved, and they all use the Patient ID (pid) to label samples and other information internally, a three-steps process is implemented in OpenGeneMed to make sure everyone is aware of the change and everyone updates the records as required.

Once a patient has been delinked, all his/her information will still be accessible though OpenGeneMed but in read-only mode and no information can be deleted or added to delinked records. This is the reason why the responsibility of confirming delink steps is given to Chiefs (for the Lab and Clinic Teams), as they must make sure that all information is updated and complete before the delink can be finalized.

The three steps of delinking are:

- 1. initial request: done by any member of the Clinic Team (Figure 26 (A));
- 2. confirmation by the Lab: done by the Lab Team Chief and described in Section 4.4.4 on page 33;
- 3. final step: done by the Clinic Team Chief (Figure 26 (B)).

Each step triggers an email to the next actor, as well as an internal notification that will be shown in the 'Pending tasks' tab of the designated user (see Section 4.6 on page 36 for more explanations on how to use this tab).





4.4 Sample upload and variant calling (Lab Team)

ß

WARNING: the instructions in this sections are presented using the 'Lab Team Chief' role. People assigned to this role have additional responsibilities and capabilities compared to the 'Lab Team' member. Operations allowed only to the 'chief' role have been clearly marked as such.

The main responsibilities of the Lab Team are:

- 1. uploading VCF files from patient samples
- 2. access variant calling information and review them
- 3. monitor general variants trends and interact with the Study Coordinator
- 4. (chief role) execute one of the steps in the delink process (to de-identify information of patients going off-study and allow the use of that information for further research investigations)

Each task, usually corresponding to a specific tab in the web interface, is described in details in the sections that follow.

4.4.1 Sample upload

The 'Upload' tab displays the form used by the sequencing lab to upload the variant file in VCF format. Open-GeneMed analyses VCF files produced by TorrentSuite version 4.0.2. When uploading the variant file, the system uses the combination of the Patient ID and the Sample ID (the VCF file name) as the unique identifier. Figure 4 on page 10 shows the workflow in the data upload and annotation module. Instructions on how to customize/extend this module to fit different studies needs and file format are presented in the 'Technical documentation' manual .

Uploading a file requires to list the Patient ID, Sample Date and select the VCF file from a File explorer window. Once the information is entered, submitting the form will trigger the import of the raw data and the call of the annotation procedure will start (Figure 27).

OpenGeneMed (Dem	o study)	Welcome Lab Team Chief (Lab Team Chief) Logout
Deshboare Lab Team Upload Samples Patients VCF File Upload single file Patient ID Sample Date VCF File	12349990001 2015-05-04 Browse MCC-177_ceph.vcf Submit	Pending tasks User profile
]



4.4.2 Access and review variant calling information

All the uploaded samples are listed in a summarized view in the 'Samples' tab as shown in Figure 28.

board Lab leam					Pending tasks User p
load Samples P	atients				
List					
					Show / hide colum
10W 25 💌 e	entries			Sear	rch:
NOW 25 • 6 Sample ID	entries	Submit Date	Review Status	Sear s 💠 Sample Date 💠	Action
IOW 25 • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • •	Patient ID 12349990006	Submit Date 05/19/2015 11:37	Review Status Incomplete	Sear s 🔶 Sample Date 🔶 2015-03-09	Action View Patient View Variant
NOW 25 Sample ID PCC-161_ceph MCC-204_ceph	Patient ID 12349990006 12349990005	⊕ Submit Date 05/19/2015 11:37 05/19/2015 11:31	Review Status Incomplete Incomplete	Sear s	Action View Patient View Variant View Patient View Variant
IDW 25 C Sample ID PCC-161_ceph MCC-204_ceph MCC-199_ceph	Patient ID 12349990006 12349990005 12349990004	Submit Date 05/19/2015 11:37 05/19/2015 11:31 05/19/2015 11:31 05/19/2015 11:30	Review Status Incomplete Incomplete Incomplete Incomplete	Sear s Sample Date 2015-03-09 2015-04-27 2015-04-13	Action View Patlent View Variant View Patlent View Variant View Patlent View Variant
Sample ID PCC-161_ceph MCC-204_ceph MCC-199_ceph MCC-192_ceph	Patient ID 2349990005 12349990005 2349990004 2349990004	Submit Date 05/19/2015 11:37 05/19/2015 11:31 05/19/2015 11:31 05/19/2015 11:30 05/19/2015 11:27	Review Status Incomplete Incomplete Incomplete Incomplete	Sample Date Control 2015-03-09 2015-04-27 2015-04-13 2015-04-08	Action View Patient View Variant View Patient View Variant View Patient View Variant View Patient View Variant
Sample ID PCC-161_ceph MCC-204_ceph MCC-199_ceph MCC-192_ceph MCC-188_ceph	Patient ID 2349990005 12349990004 12349990004 12349990003 12349990003 12349990002	Submit Date 05/19/2015 11:37 05/19/2015 11:31 05/19/2015 11:30 05/19/2015 11:30 05/19/2015 11:27 05/19/2015 11:27 05/19/2015 11:26	Review Status Incomplete Incom	Sear Sample Date Sample Date Source Sourc	Action View Ratent View Vantent

Figure 28: Lab Team, Samples. Summary of the uploaded samples. The table has built-in features that allow to hide/show columns, view the records over different pages, sort the entries and search for specific content. From each sample information about the Variant and Patient details are accessible using the button in the Action column.

Member of the Lab Team can access the basic clinical information of each patient either by clicking the 'View Patient' button in the Samples table or using the 'Patients' tab. Note that this information cannot be edited by the Lab Team and it represents the data entered by the Clinic Team up to that moment. The Lab Team could use this information as reference when reviewing the variant calls.

JenGenew	ed (Demo study)	Welcome Lab Team Chief (Lab Team Chief) Logou
Lab Team		Pending tasks User profile
Upload Samples Patients		
List View patient		
Patient Clinical Information		
		_
Patient ID	12349990006	
Gender	F	
Gender Histologic Dx	F Breast Cancer	
Gender Histologic Dx Histologic Dx Subtype	F Breast Cancer HER2 type	_
Gender Histologic Dx Histologic Dx Subtype Date of Diagnosis	F Breast Cancer HER2 type 2015-03-10	
Gender Histologic Dx Histologic Dx Subtype Date of Diagnosis Age at Diagnosis	F Breast Cancer HER2 type 2015-03-10 47	

Figure 29: Lab Team, Patient information. Basic clinical data of a patient is displayed to the Lab Team group only for general information. No editing is allowed and additional information about prior therapies, eligibility criteria are omitted.

The variants for each uploaded sample can be viewed by clicking the 'View Variant' button for the desired entry in the table of samples. An example of the variant call table is shown in Figure 30 on the following page. Embedded hyperlinks for each variant enables detailed lookup in COSMIC and dbSNP databases, dynamic queries in the dbSNP database, and manual review of variants.

The members of the Lab Team are expected to review the variants and approve them if they meet criteria decided by the Lab Team. Variant calls can be rejected if the team suspect some technical issue with the sequencing and some further verification is necessary, or if the variant belongs to a list that the protocol explicitly asks to be ignored, etc.

0	pen	Gen	eM	ed (D	emo si	tudy)								We	elcome Lab	Team Chief	(Lab Team (Chief) Logo	ut	Gene
	Dashboard	Lab Tea	m													Pendir	ig tasks L	Iser profile	1	Pathway Type
	Upload	Samples	Patient	•																Drug
$\left[\right]$	List	/iew varia	nts																1	Sitt Predict
	Detient	D. 402	100000	ne.															1	Sitt Score
	Availabl	e samn	1999000	00																V HP
	PCC-161	_ceph		, 1)															Impact
	Sample a	nnotater	1 on: 05/1	9/2015 11-3	10															COSNPID
	Notify To	atment s	election t	eam of com	leted re	iow	0											- 1		MAFEA
																			1	MAFAA
																3	Show / hide	e columns		
	Show 25		• er	ntries				2						4	Search:					COSMIC ID
	Review	aMOL	Gene	Pathway	Туре	Drug 👌	HP 👌	Impact 0		Count 0	Chr	Position	REF (hg19)	ALT (tumor)	Allele Freq	Read Depth	Codon Change	AA Change		
							>=			>=					>=	>=				Position
	6 🐁	Yes	PARP1	DNA repair	Loss	MK1775	3	FRAME_SHIFT	21691	1	1	226551691	тс	т	0.00	1218		-913		ALT (tumor)
	46	Yes	MSH2	DNA repair	Loss	ABT888, MK1775		FRAME_SHIFT			2	47630526	т	TG	0.05	541	-/G	-66?		Allele Freq
	-	Yes	MSH2	DNA repair	Loss	ABT888, MK1775		STOP_GAINED	26121	1	2	47639565	G	т	0.00	549	Gga/Tga	G220*		Codon Change
	56	Yes	MSH2	DNA repair	Loss	ABT888, MK1775	7	FRAME_SHIFT	26124	1	2	47639587	GA	G	0.00	538		-227		AA Change
	46	Yes	MSH2	DNA repair	Loss	ABT888, MK1775		FRAME_SHIFT	26126	1	2	47641547	AC	A	0.00	841		-311	Ì	Transcript ID
111			I	DAIA	I	ADTOOD		1			I	1	1	I	I	I		I	1	SD SD
	G	Yes	ATR	DNA repair	Loss	ABT888, MK1775	5	STOP_GAINED	35421	3	3	142176504	G	A	0.00	934	Cga/Tga	R2533*		Restore Show all
	10	Yes	ATR	DNA repair	Loss	ABT888, MK1775		FRAME_SHIFT	53543	1	3	142188966	CAT	С	0.00	1223	-	-2093		Show none
	S	Yes	ATR	DNA repair	Loss	ABT888, MK1775		FRAME_SHIFT	20627	1	3	142254972	GCTTTTAT	G	0.00	996	-	-1264		
	Showing 1 Save as	to 25 of 3	85 entries	5									7 Prev	ious 1	2 3	4 5	16	Next		
_		8																		

Figure 30: Lab Team, Variants table. Variant call report for the selected sample.

(1) the Patient ID and the currently selected sample are shown at the top of the page. If more than one sample is available for a patient, the user can access the information of the other samples using the drop-down menu;

(2) The table containing variant calls is a big and dynamic table with built-in features that allow to hide/show columns, view the records over different pages, sort the entries and search for specific content;

(3) Some columns are hidden by default, and the complete list of columns, each selectable using the specific checkbox, is available in the top right corner of the table;

(4) A generic textual search filter is positioned on the top right corner of the table. This filter hides all the rows of the table not containing the text typed in the search field. The filter operates on the content of the entire table, not on specific columns;
(5) Sorting and Filters are provided for each separate column. Clicking on the column header would sort the entries in increasing/decreasing order with respect to the content of that column. Several columns have special filters: some columns display drop-down menus, some numerical filters to help showing only rows meeting criteria like 'Allele Frequency greater than 0.74', while other filter are just generic text filters. To reset any filter, simply delete the content of the filter or select the empty option in the drop-downs;

(6) Each variant call should be reviewed by the Lab Team: clicking the icon in the 'Review' column opens an additional page (Figure 31 on the following page) where the user can review details of the call and decide how to review the entry. The icons represent the different status of the review (not reviewed, accepted, rejected, etc.);

(7) Since the table may contain a large number of entries, the table divides the content into pages (accessible from page numbers in the lower right corner of the table). The total number of entries is shown in the lower left corner of the table and the number of entries per page is determined by a drop-down menu on the top left corner of the table;

(8) The entire table can be saved into a CSV (comma separated value) format for access on a local machine and further off-line reviews;

(9) Once the review of the sample is complete, the Lab Team member should click the button at the top of the page to notify the Treatment Review Team that their action is required for this patient. Note that it is not required to assign a reviewed status to each single entry in the variant call table: however it is the responsibility of the Lab Team to make an accurate and complete assessment of the sample;

(10) The date and time of the current annotation result is displayed. If only the date is shown (as in the case above) this data is for informational purposes only. However if an additional button is shown to 'Rerun variant call', this is an indication that the rules for the variant annotation calls has been changed by the Study Coordinator <u>after</u> this sample was uploaded and annotated. This may create a major inconsistency since the rules that determines what is defined as variant impact the results shown in the table. It is the Lab Team Chief responsibility to decide how to manage the situation (i.e., if to rerun the variant call with the new rules, or if to ignore the warning and review the current state of the sample variant calls).

penGeneMed (Demo study)	Welcome Lab Team Chief (Lab Team Chief
Dashteard Lab Team	Pending tasks User p
Uphoad Samples Patients	
Contraction of the second seco	
Variant Review Record	
Is this variant called an actionable mutation?	Yes
Is this variant in our aMOI list?	Yes
Reason to be called an actionable mutation:	Loss of function: FRAME_SHIFT;
Province Status	Not Reviewed Yet
Never Status.	Reviewed Approved Reviewed Approved
	Reviewed Rejected
Comments:	
	²⁴ 16
	Submit changes
Apportation Information for this Variant	
Patient ID 12349990006 Amino Acid Change	-913 Chromosome 1
Sample ID PCC-161_ceph Codon Change	Position 226551691
Cone DADD1 Impact ED/	ME_SHIFT Homo Polymer 3
delle Provi impact inv	
Allele Frequency (ALT) 0.00 Pathway D	NA repair
Allele Frequency (ALT) 0.00 Pathway D Coverage (Read Depth) 1218 Sift Predict	NA repair Minor Allele Freq in Population
Allele Frequency (ALT) 0.00 Pathway D Coverage (Read Depth) 1218 Sift Predict REF TC Sift Score	NA repair Minor Allele Freq in Population European American 0.00
Allele Frequency (ALT) 0.00 Pathway D Coverage (Read Depth) 1218 Sift Predict REF TC Sift Score ALT T CoSMIC id	NA repair Minor Allele Freq in Population European American 0.00 21691 African American 0.00

Figure 31: Lab Team, Variant review. All the information for a single variant call is displayed in this page. The Lab Team member should decide how to review the variant. Comments can be added. Upon submitting the information, the review status of that entry in the table will be characterized by a different icon corresponding to the choice previously entered. diting any entry can be achieved by clicking again on the corresponding icon in the variant call table.

4.4.3 Visualize summarized study information

As the study progresses and patients are registered and treated, aggregated trends can be accessed by the Lab Team as well as the Biostatisticians Team to access trends and possibly discussing changes/addition to the protocol to account for observed results.

The information in the different 'Trial Stats' tabs it's presented with similar graphics so here we present only the 'In study variants' tab.

This tab collects information about the variants of interest in the current study (Figure 32). A pie chart (color coded for the pathways included in the study) shows the current variants found in samples uploaded in the system. The pie chart is dynamic and slices' visibility can be toggled on/off. Right below the pie chart, a table containing the same information is displayed for easy of query. A dynamic bar chart with the same information is also displayed on the page. If additional information is needed for a specific set of genes' variants, the user can select the desired genes and click the 'Show variants for selected genes' button: this will reload the page with an additional table at the end containing the specific information for the requested gene variants.



Figure 32: Lab Team, In study variants. Aggregate information about the variants of interest in the current study. (1) the user can select to visualize only the approved variants, or all the ones that have been called. (2) the pie chart (color coded for the pathways included in the study) shows the current variants found in samples uploaded in the system. The pie chart is dynamic and slices' visibility can be toggled on/off. (3) Dynamic bar chart with the same information and (4) a table containing the same information for easy of query; (5) visualize additional information about selected variants by clicking the appropriate button, (6) additional table containing the specific information for the requested variants.

Information about all the variant called can be retrieved easily from the Trial Stats/All Variant tab. This feature allows the Lab Team to query all variants with a defined allele frequency and read depth and see the distribution of those across the uploaded samples. For research purposes it's important to be able to query the data beyond the specific rules defined for the study, as this could also help in identifying interesting targets that could trigger changes in the protocol or inclusion of new drugs in the study.



Figure 33: Lab Team, All identified variants. Aggregate information about all the variants in the uploaded samples. (1) The user can define the parameter for the query as Allele frequency ranges, Read depth ranges and specific string patterns for the patient ID (helpful to limit the search to few samples of interest). (2) the pie chart and the bar chart show the current variants found in samples. (3) The textual representation of the submitted query, printed for reference. (4) A table containing the same information for easy of query and sorting; (5) If further information is needed for specific variants, the user can select the variants from the table and, by clicking the appropriate button, an additional table will appear. This table contains the detailed information for the selected variants.

Nents Nesponses	In study variants All V	anants					
Treatment	Arm	\$ 0 ⁸ -	\$ *	4 HZ	• Dise	se Prograssion	Disense Honevall
ABT888	experimental	0	0	0	0	0	0
ABT888	control	0	0	0	0	0	0
ABT888	(undefined)	0	0	0	0	0	0
Everolimus	experimental	0	0	0	0	0	0
Everolimus	control	0	0	0	0	0	0
Everolimus	(undefined)	0	0	0	0	0	0
GSK1120212	experimental	0	0	0	0	0	0
GSK1120212	control	0	0	0	0	0	0
GSK1120212	(undefined)	0	0	0	0	0	0
MK1775	experimental	0	0	0	0	0	0
MK1775	control	0	0	0	0	0	0
MK1775	(undefined)	0	0	0	0	0	0
Showing 1 to 12 of 12	entries					_	



Figure 34: Biostatisticians Team, Responses. Count of patients assigned to each treatment, displayed according to the response and arm assignment (if available) (1) in the dynamic table each column can be sorted by clicking the header (note that in the demo version, no treatment response is stored, so the table contains only zeros); (2) the table can be exported in a comma separated value file that can be processed by Excel or any other external platform for further analysis.

4.4.4 Delinking

As explained in Section 4.3.7 on page 26, delinking is the essential process needed to de-identify information of patients going off-study to allow the use of that information for further research investigations. Conceptually, it is a very simple process of creating a random identifier that will replace the Patient ID used throughout the different tables, so that the information in the database will not be linked in any way to the actual patient record in the clinic.

Even if the technical steps are very straightforward, since many groups are involved, and they all use the Patient ID (pid) to label samples and other information internally, a three-steps process is implemented in OpenGeneMed to make sure everyone is aware of the change and everyone updates the records as required.

Once a patient has been delinked, all his/her information will still be accessible though OpenGeneMed but in read-only mode and no information can be deleted or added to delinked records. This is the reason why the responsibility of confirming delink steps is given to Chiefs (for the Lab and Clinic Teams), as they must make sure that all information is updated and complete before the delink can be finalized.

The three steps of delinking are:

- 1. initial request: done by any member of the Clinic Team (Figure 26 on page 27 (A)) and described in Section 4.3.7 on page 26;
- 2. confirmation by the Lab: done by the Lab Team Chief;
- 3. final step: done by the Clinic Team Chief (Figure 26 on page 27 (B)) and described in Section 4.3.7 on page 26.

Each step triggers an email to the next actor, as well as an internal notification that will be shown in the 'Pending tasks' tab of the designated user (see Section 4.6 on page 36 for more explanations on how to use this tab).

Once the initial request is submitted, the Lab Team Chief will access the record, and perform the task as shown in Figure 35.



Figure 35: Lab Team Chief, Delinking. (A) The Lab Team Chief receives the request to delink from the Clinic Team (steps shown Section 4.3.7 on page 26). Clicking the 'Complete task' button will automatically redirect the user to the page with the information to confirm the delinking. (B) It's the Lab Team Chief responsibility to take note of the new Random ID generated by OpenGeneMed and to make sure that the previous PID is replaced with the new Random ID on all the samples and in all the records stored in the lab. Once the verification is complete, clicking the 'Confirm delink' button will trigger an email to be sent to the Clinic Team Chief for the final delink of the patient from the system.

4.5 Treatment assignment (Treatment Review Team)

Once the Lab Team completes the review of the annotated variants, they will use the button shown in Figure 30 on page 30 (9) to notify the Treatment Review Team that the patient information is ready to be accessed and the treatment assignment decision need to be taken. Figure 36 shows how the notification and the task of reviewing the patient information is carried out by the Treatment Review Team.

List						Pending tasks User pro
Show 25 • entries Date Request • 2015-05-28 13:51:09 variant_review Showing 1 to 1 of 1 entries	Request type	▼ Pati 1234999000	entID ∳	Se Date C	arch:	Show / hide column Action Complete task Previous 1 Nex
Dashboard Treatment Review Team						Pending tasks User pro
List Clinical information Eligibility Prio	Therapies Current tr	eatment Variant	s report	Assign treatment		
Patient Clinical Information Eligibility Prio	Therapies Current tr	eatment Variant	s report	Assign treatment		
Patients List Clinical information Eligibility Prio Patient Clinical Information Patient ID Patient ID	Theraples Current tr	eatment Variant	s report	Assign treatment	3	
Patient Clinical Information Eligibility Prio Patient Clinical Information Patient ID Gender	Therapies Current tr 12349990001 M	eatment Variant	s report	Assign treatment	3	
Patients List Clinical information Eligibility Prio Patient Clinical Information Patient ID Gender Histologic Dx	Therapies Current tr 12349990001 M Pancreatic cancer	eatment Variant	s report	Assign treatment	3	
Patients List Clinical information Eligibility Prio Patient Clinical Information Patient ID Gender Histologic Dx Histologic Dx Subtype	Therapies Current tr 12349990001 M Pancreatic cancer Adenocarcinoma	eatment Variant	s report	Assign treatment	3	
Patients List Clinical information Eligibility Prio Patient Clinical Information Patient ID Gender Histologic Dx Histologic Dx Subtype Date of Diagnosis	Therapies Current tr 12349990001 M Pancreatic cancer Adenocarcinoma 2015-04-14	eatment Variant	s report	Assign treatment		
Patients List Clinical information Eligibility Prio Patient Clinical Information Patient ID Gender Histologic Dx Histologic Dx Subtype Date of Diagnosis Age at Diagnosis	Therapies Current tr 12349990001 M Pancreatic cancer Adenocarcinoma 2015-04-14 64	eatment Variant	s report	Assign treatment		

Figure 36: Treatment assignment task. (A) Notification from the Lab Team that the variant review is complete for the patient and his/her record can be accessed. (B) all information about the patient should be reviewed by the Treatment Review Team before selecting which treatment to assign. Of particular importance, the 'Eligibility' and the 'Variant report' tab, explained in the text

Information in each tab should be carefully reviewed to assess the patient status. Two of the most critical piece of information to make a sensible treatment assignment are 'Variant report' and 'Eligibility'. The former contains a list of the variant calls approved by the Lab Team (Figure 37 on the next page (A)), while the latter (as well as all other tabs) shows the data entered by the Clinic Team after registering the patient in the study. Since the variant reviewed notification may come before the Clinic Team has the chance to complete the Eligibility criteria answers, a warning message is displayed if this information is missing (Figure 37 on the following page (B)). A notification can be sent to the Clinic Team about this missing information and a second notification to the Treatment Review Team will be sent once the Clinic Team completes its task. At this point all the information for the patient is complete (Figure 37 on the next page (C)) and the Treatment Review Team can access the 'Assign Treatment' tab and select the appropriate treatment as shown in Figure 38 on the following page.

Sample	annota	ted o	on: 05/1	W2015	11:1	9																	Eli	ligibility	question	ns						
		-																Show/hi	de columns								Eligibi	lity ans	swers	for the p	patienf	s are incor
Show 25			intries	_	_					-	_	-	_			Search												No	otify clin	ic team of m	hissing in	ormation
Review	aMOL	Gen	1e Pathy	ay 7	pe	Drug	Impa	rt 0	ID	Cou	int Ch	Posi	tion	REF (hg19)	ALT (tumor)	Freq	Read Depth	Codon Change	AA Change			_										
46	Yes	PARF	P1 DN	, U	755	ak1775	FRAME_	SHIFT	21691		1	1 22655	1691	TC	т	0.00	1992		-91													
46	Yes	MSHO	12 DNA		255	BT888. AK1775	STOP_G	NNED	26121		1	2 4763	9565	G	т	0.00	784	Gga/Tga	G220													
Showing 1 t	to 2 of 2	entries	5	_						-	_						Pr	revious 1	Next													
Save as	•																															
List	Chnical	inform Patie	nation	igoria I Infor	matic	ior Ther	pies C	arrent tr	eatment	Varia	anta repo	rt As	sign trea	atment	ľ	Lat	Tirical Infor Pati Trea	ent ID: 12: timents	364877 (14999000	Therapies Cu	rrent treatm	ment Verian	ets repoet	Assign free	treat				ì			
List	Clinical	inform Patie	mation Ant Clinic	igbin I Infor P	matic	ior Ther n D 12 Br	pics d 14999000 M	arrent tr	eatment	Varia	ants repo	rt Ass	sign trea	atment	ľ	Lat	Cirrical Infor Pati Trea	ent ID: 12: atments	36.877 (4999000	Therapies Off	rrent treatm	rment Verian	eta report	Assign free	treest	Show/hide	e columns		I			
List	Cinical	inform Patie	mation	il Infor P Histo	matic atient Gend logic	ior Ther n D 12 er Dx I	istes C 34999000 M ancreatic cancer	urrent tr	reatment	Varia	ants repo	AS	sign trea	atment	ľ		Pati Trea	ent ID: 12: atments	ability 14999000 Regin	r Therapies Cur	rren Irostro	Date Rx starte	ets report a	Assign free Best ret	trent spcase	Show / hide No. of cyc	e columns		I			
List	Chrical	inform Patie	nation	il Infor P Histo gic Dx	matic atient Geno logic Subty	or ther n D 12 er Dx I Dx Ade	sees C 34999000 M ancreatic cancer iocarcino	urrent tr 1	reatment	Varia	ants repo	t) Ast	sign trea	atment	ľ	Lat	Pati Trea	mattor (D) ient ID: 12: atments	skillty 149990000 Regin	Therefore Con	rrent broatm No	Date Rx starte eo data available	ets report	Assign free Best ref	trucat	Show / hish No. of cyc	e columns					
List	Chrich	Patie	mation ant Clinic Histoic Da	l Infor P Histo gic Dx te of D	matic atient Geno logic Subty agnor	n 11er n 12 er Dx ¹ Dx ¹ Dx ²	34999000 M ancreatic cancer iocarcino 115-04-14	urrent b 1 na	reatment	Varia	ants repo	rt As	sign trea	atment			Pati	mattor Clu ient ID: 12: htments	26877 44999000 Regin	Therapies Col	No	Date Rx starts to data available Espiblisty	ed o e in table	Assign free Best ret	iment konse de konsektionent	Show / hids No. of cyc	e columns des 0	ps freatment				
	Clinical	inform Patie	mation ant Clinic Histolic Da A	I Infor P Histo gic Dx te of D ge at D	matic atient Geno logic Subty agnor	n D 12 er Dx I Dx I Dx I se Ade is 2 is	349990000 M ancreatic cancer 10carcino 115-04-14 64	urrent tr 1 na	reatment	Varia	ints repo	rt Ass	sign free	atment			Pati	eation Ele ient ID: 12: atments	stallity 149990000 Regin	e Therapees G	No No	Dete Rx starte Espibility r	ets report and a second s	Assign free Best ree	tment	Show / Nide No. of cyc	e columns des 0 ort Assig	ps freatment				
	Clinical	Patie	mation Ant Clinic Histolo Da A	I Infor P Histo gic Dx te of D cc	matic atient Geno logic Subty agnor mmer	n D 12 er Dx I ne Ade is 2 is ts	34999000 M ancreatic cancer tocarcino 115-04-14 64	urrent tr 1 na	watment	Variation	ants repo		sign tred	atment		Lat	Pati Pati	entilD: 123	Regin	c Therefore Concentration	No auton E ant ID: 12	ment Vortee Date Rx startie Go data bradable Esgibility (* 12349990001	ed) en table Prise Therapie	Assign free Best ref	iponse ≬	Show / Mds No. of cyc	e columns) ites 0 ort (Assig	ys treatment				1
	Chrical	Patie	ent Clinic Histoic Da A	Historia Historia di Information Historia di Competenta Competenta	matic atient Geno logic Subty agno mmer	n 12 n 12 n 12 n 12 n 1 n 12 n 12 n 12 n	Adabase of the second s	urreet v	*ebment	Varia	ants repo	As	n ingen treed	atment		Lat	Pati	nator (R) ient ID: 12: atments	ebaty t4999000 Regin	c Thorapera Ca Closed inform Patie Eligi	No No Int ID: 12 billty que	Date Rx starts Date Rx starts Esphary [12349990001 iestions	ed 0 e in table Prise Therapic	Assign tree Best ren	tment) sponse 🔹	Show / Mdo No. ef cyc Viriants repe	e columns) des 0 ort Assig	ys treatment		Show / hide	columns	1
	Chrical	Patie	ent Clinic Histolic Da A	History P History Gic Dx te of D Cc	matic atient Geno logic Subty agnor agnor	n D 12 D 12 Dr I Dr I Dr I Dr I Sr I S S S S	14999000 M ancreatic cancer 10carcino 115-04-14 64	urreet tr	reatment	Varia	ants repo	R As	sign trea	atment			Pati Trea	nabor CR ient ID: 123 itments	sbilty 44999000 Regin	c Thompson Co Clinical Inform Patie Eligi	No No ent ID: 12 billity que	Date Rx starts to data available Espibility [12349990001 sestions	eta resport ed 0 Prise Therapes	Best ree GaresBon	trooti	Show / Mds No. of cyc Virtuits rep	e columos dos 0 set Asado	n treatment	Per 0	Show / hide - Note	columns ¢	1
	Chricol	Patie	Histoir Histoir Da A	Historia Historia gic Dx Cc	matic atient Gend logic Subty agnor mmer	n 12 n 12 er 1 D 12 er Ade is 2 is 15	34999000 M ancreatic cancer vocarcino 115-04-14 64	urreat tr 1 na	canvet be	Varia	anta repo	f Ass	sign trea	atment			Pati	eator Ca lent ID: 123 atments	Register (c Thoragoen C	No No ent ID: 12 bility que las patient e cor?	Date Rx starts to data available Espisisty (12249990001 sestions dreceived any p	ed entropert	Best ret Best ret Garestion With any of t	invest)	Show / Mide No. of cyc Variantia rep-	e columns cles 0 ort Assis	n treatment Answ	Per 0	Show / hide	columns 0	1
Lat	Clinical	inform Patie	Histoir A Histoir A	History P History gic Dx. Cc Cc Pati	matic atient Geno logic logic logic subty agnor mmer	n Ther n D 12 D 12 er Dx I se Ade is 2 is is 122489	sees C C	urreat fr 1 na	carrent be	Varia Martin	waters	R Ass	sign fred	atment			Patie	entilo: 12: timents	Rogint/	e Therepeen) Ge Clinical inform Patie Eligi Q1: h goto Q2: C	A 1 No Notion 1 Hitly que las patient rol 12	Date Rx starts to data available Expositions dreceived any p at have ovarian	ed 0 en table Price Therapie	Best rer Guestion Question	reve treatment	Show 1985 Bio. of cyc Variantia repo	e columos cles 0 ort Assig	es treatment Answ No	Per 0	Show / hide	columns 0	1
Lot	Cinicat	Patie	Histologi Histologi A Lun C	I I Infor P Histo gic Dx Cc Cc Pati	matic atient Geno logic Subty agnor agnor agnor mmer	n D 12 er D 12 er Ade is 2 is ts 122499 mic The	gees C 349990000 M ancreatic cancer toocarcino toocarcino toocarcino 64 64 0001 piles	urreet fr 1 na	eatment	Const	unta repo	rt Ass	sign tred	adment		Ent)	Pati Pati	enator Ce ent ID: 12: ktments	Regin	Cincel Information Patie Eligi 01: h grobs 02: C 02: C 03: C 04: C	Notion (storn (st	Date Rx starts to data available (12349990001 12349990001 iestions creceived any p ethave ovarian ethave ovarian ethave poorly c (2race - 2) and	ed 0 e in table Price Therapie price Therapie price Therapie or breast can controlled diat	Assign rear Best rer Caretion With any of If Incer and Bill Passents v.	towest	Show / Mide No. et cyc Virtunts rep gational agents o soleod glucose of soleod glucose of	e columos coles 0 ert Asso asso 150 150 150 150	as treatment Answ 40 40	rer 0	Show / bide Note Kyes, potent wi eligité to recek- Evroitma.	columns	1
	Clinical	Patie	Histor Histor Di A	Ig bits P Histo gic Dx te of D Cc Pati Prio	matic attent Geno logic Subty agno agno mmer	n D 12 er D 12 er D Ade Ade Ade Ade MotAde Iss	sees Calored C	urrest tr 1	eatment	Verne automore Time group	A Restarted	MI ASS	Adauliges fore Beestin	extract versions		Ust)	Ainca letros Pati Trea ekonos	entilit: 12: 12: 12: 12: 12: 12: 12: 12: 12: 12	Rogin	Cincel adars Cincel adars Patie Eligit QC D QC D QC D QC D QC D QC D QC D QC D	A Nor aston () ston () ston () stop palent L (CTAE cos patent L (CTAE cos patent s chemicali)	Date Rx starts to data available to data available testions takes over a start takes over a start the pool of circase = 2) and the pool of the shown in the pool of circase = 2) and the pool of circase = 2) and the pool of circase = 2) and the pool of circase = 2) and the pool of the shown in the pool of circase = 2) and the pool of c	ed encode en	Best ret ex Car Carestion With any of 1 Patients via Patients via	reneat	Show / Ndo No. ef cyc Variantia tep- gational agents o postonal agents o d glucose of d glucose 110 m eacton or ridosyr 27	e columns des acti August acti August acti acti acti acti acti acti acti acti	Answ 400 400 400 400 400 400 400	ver 0	Show / hide - Note Fiys, pollent of eligitie to receiv. Exercitirus.	columns 0 II not be ve	1

Figure 37: Treatment assignment task. (A) Variant report. (B) Missing information in the Eligibility tab requires a notification to be sent to the Clinic Team. (C) Patient information is collected in different tabs and needs to be reviewed to assess the treatment assignment task.

OpenGeneMed (Den	no study)
Dashboard Treatment Review Team Patients List Clinical information Eligibility Prior	Pending tasks User profile Therapies Current treatment Variants report Assign treatment
Patient ID: Available treatments: Arm (optional): Comments:	12349990001 ABT888 Everolimus GSK1120212 MI(1775 experimental control Submit

Figure 38: Treatment assignment task. The Treatment Review Team can select which treatment to assign between the list of available drugs in the study. Comments can be added to communicate special instruction to the Clinic Team. The optional information about experimental/control arm can also be submitted. Once the 'Submit' button is clicked, a notification is sent to the Clinic Team and they will be able to access this information and deliver the proper care to the patient.

4.6 Pending tasks and User Profile (common across roles)

Each member of a OpenGeneMed study has a different role and responsibilities, but many interactions are tightly interconnected. Taking action withtin a reasonable timeframe is essential for a smooth management of the study. In order to support this issue, OpenGeneMed allows to send notifications to the 'next team' in the pipeline in critical steps of the process. Notifications are sent via email (using the registered username address) but they are also directly accessible through the 'Pending task' tab of OpenGeneMed (Figure 39). Each notification is meant only for specific groups, so the figure shows just few examples of the notifications available. The complete list of tasks/teams is described in Table 1).

Date Request	Request type	*	Patient ID	¢	Date Closed	\$ Action 🔶
2015-05-27 14:06:21	treatment_assignment_completed	12	349990001			Complete task
2015-05-27 16:30:39	treatment_assignment_completed	12	349990002			Complete task
2015-05-27 16:30:11	eligibility_incomplete	12	349990006	10		Complete task

Figure 39: Pending task. Notifications are sent via email (using the registered username address) and directly accessible through the 'Pending task' tab. The Figure shows few notification visible to the Clinic Team. The complete list of tasks/teams is described in Table 1).

Task label	Displayed to	Description
uploaded_vcf	Lab Team and Lab Chief	when a memeber of the Lab Team uploads a new VCF file, this notification alerts all the people in the group that a new file has been added and it is ready to be reviewed.
variant_review_completed	Treatment Review Team	once the Lab Team reviews the patient variants, this notification alerts the Treatment Review Team that the new information is ready to be reviewed for treatment assignment.
eligibility_incomplete	Clinic Team	as the Treatment Review Team proceeds to review the patient variants, the treatment Review cannot be done if eligibility questions are not answered for the patient. This notification alert the team of missing information
eligibility_completed	Treatment Review Team	if the Treatment Review Team issued a 'eligibility_incomplete' notifi- cation, this notification will alert the Treatment Review Team of the completion of the task by the Clinic Team.
treatment_assignment_completed	Clinic Team	once the Treatment Review team reviews the patient variants and clinical information, the treatment is selected and this notification alert the Clinic Team of the new information
randomid_issue	Admin	during the delinking process, if issues arise in generating the unique random id, this notification alerts the Admin team of the issue.
delink_request	Lab Team Chief	a member of the Clinic Team initialized the delinking process. This notification alerts the Lab Team Chief that a new random id is available to be viewed and used for relabelling samples in the lab.
delink_finalize	Clinic Team Chief	once the Lab Chief completed the delinking process on their end, this notification alerts the Clinic Team Chief that everything is ready for the final step of the delinking process

Table 1: Notifications generated within the OpenGeneMed system to coordinate the actions of different teams.

Each user of OpenGeneMed can access and update his/her own information using the 'User Profile' tab (upper right corner). As shown in Figure 40, each user can change email address, password, first and last name. No changes are allowed to the User role, since this information is managed by the Admin team.

ersonal information		
Email Address (used as username)	opengenemed_clinicteam@examp	
User Role	Clinic Team	
First Name	Clinic Team	
Last Name	Clinic Team	
New Password		
(if you want to change it, otherwise leave empty)		
Retype new password		
	Submit changes	

Figure 40: User Profile. Users can change their own email address, password, first and last name. No changes are allowed to the User role, since this information is managed by the Admin team.

5 Implementation of the OpenGeneMed system

The OpenGeneMed system has been designed and developed by the Biometric Research Branch in the Division of Cancer Treatment and Diagnosis of the National Cancer Institute.

The OpenGeneMed system is operating on Virtual Machine running a CentOS 64 bit Linux (CenOS 6.7, kernel 2.6.32) and it uses MySQL (version 5.1.73) as back-end database. Technical documentation about how to setup and initialize the system is provided in the 'Technical documentation' file.

The application is built on a client-server architecture, which provides multiuser access to the application. The application can be launched in any modern web browser and presents an intuitive graphic user interface.

The front end (client side) interface is scripted using HTML, CSS, and JavaScript. The back end (server side) are scripted using Perl (details on modules used are provided below). Java (version 1.8.0_51) is installed as pre-requirement to run the annotation software snpEff (version 3.4, released Jan 16, 2014, downloaded from http://sourceforge.net/projects/snpeff/files/).

There are 21 MySQL tables in the default setup of the OpenGeneMed system. More technical details about the context and structure of the database, about how to setup the system, access the client and customize the code are available in the 'Technical Documentation' file.

5.1 Accessing the client

Once the VM is running, type the IP address of the VM in any web browser to use the OpenGeneMed system. If you don't see a login screen there may be something wrong with the VM setup: contact the IT personnel responsible of this setup for any help on these issues (the server may be running behind a firewall, or the VM has not be configured correctly).

If the VM is setup correctly, the login screen should be visible and the IT personnel that setup the VM should have provided you details on which username and password to use to access OpenGeneMed. In the basic initial setup, eight accounts are added for demo purposes (usernames and passwords in Table 2). However the first recommendation while setting up the VM is to change/delete these accounts, so they may not work. Please contact your IT team with questions about this.

Role	Username	Password
Admin	opengenemed_admin@example.com	aaaAAA111
Clinic Team	opengenemed_clinicteam@example.com	bbbBBB222
Lab Team	opengenemed_labteam@example.com	cccCCC333
Lab Team Chief	opengenemed_labteamchief@example.com	dddDDD444
Clinic Team Chief	opengenemed_clinicteamchief@example.com	eeeEEE555
Study Coordinator	opengenemed_studycoordinator@example.com	fffFFF666
Statistician	opengenemed_statistician@example.com	gggGGG777
Treatment Review Team	opengenemed_treatmentteam@example.com	hhhHHH888

Table 2: Eight accounts added in the OpenGeneMed system for demo purposes. The first recommendation while setting up the VM is to change/delete these accounts, so they may not work on your specific system: please contact the IT team that set up your system with questions about this issue.

Details about how to use the different features of the system are presented in Section 4 on page 12.

References

Bamford, S., Dawson, E., Forbes, S., Clements, J., Pettett, R., Dogan, A., Flanagan, A., Teague, J., Futreal, P. A., Stratton, M., et al. (2004). The cosmic (catalogue of somatic mutations in cancer) database and website. *British journal of cancer*, 91(2):355–358.

Cingolani, P., Platts, A., Wang, L. L., Coon, M., Nguyen, T., Wang, L., Land, S. J., Lu, X., and Ruden, D. M. (2012). A program for annotating and predicting the effects of single nucleotide polymorphisms, snpeff: Snps in the genome of drosophila melanogaster strain w1118; iso-2; iso-3. *Fly*, 6(2):80–92.

Doroshow, J. H. (2010). Selecting systemic cancer therapy one patient at a time: is there a role for molecular profiling of individual patients with advanced solid tumors? *Journal of Clinical Oncology*, 28(33):4869–4871.

Gargis, A. S., Kalman, L., Berry, M. W., Bick, D. P., Dimmock, D. P., Hambuch, T., Lu, F., Lyon, E., Voelkerding, K. V., Zehnbauer, B. A., et al. (2012). Assuring the quality of next-generation sequencing in clinical laboratory practice. *Nature biotechnology*, 30(11):1033–1036.

Kummar, S., Williams, P. M., Lih, C.-J., Polley, E. C., Chen, A. P., Rubinstein, L. V., Zhao, Y., Simon, R. M., Conley, B. A., and Doroshow, J. H. (2015). Application of molecular profiling in clinical trials for advanced metastatic cancers. *Journal of the National Cancer Institute*, 107(4):djv003.

Rothberg, J. M., Hinz, W., Rearick, T. M., Schultz, J., Mileski, W., Davey, M., Leamon, J. H., Johnson, K., Milgrew, M. J., Edwards, M., et al. (2011). An integrated semiconductor device enabling non-optical genome sequencing. *Nature*, 475(7356):348–352.

Simon, R. and Polley, E. (2013). Clinical trials for precision oncology using next-generation sequencing. *Personalized Medicine*, 10(5):485–495.

Simon, R. and Roychowdhury, S. (2013). Implementing personalized cancer genomics in clinical trials. *Nature reviews Drug discovery*, 12(5):358–369.

Tran, B., Brown, A. M., Bedard, P. L., Winquist, E., Goss, G. D., Hotte, S. J., Welch, S. A., Hirte, H. W., Zhang, T., Stein, L. D., et al. (2013). Feasibility of real time next generation sequencing of cancer genes linked to drug response: results from a clinical trial. *International Journal of Cancer*, 132(7):1547–1555.

Vogelstein, B., Papadopoulos, N., Velculescu, V. E., Zhou, S., Diaz, L. A., and Kinzler, K. W. (2013). Cancer genome landscapes. *science*, 339(6127):1546–1558.

Zhao, Y., Polley, E., Li, M.-C., Lih, C. J., Palmisano, A., Sims, D. J., Rubinstein, L. V., Conley, B. A., Chen, A. P., Williams, M. P., Kummar, S., Doroshow, J. H., and Simon, R. M. (2015). GeneMed: an informatics hub for the coordination of next-generation sequencing studies that support precision oncology clinical trials. *Cancer Informatics*, 14(Suppl 2).